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Our discussion and analysis of the Millville Area School District, “the District”, and its 
financial performance provides an overview of the District’s financial activities for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  It should be read in conjunction with the District’s 
financial statements. 
 
Financial Highlights: 
 The District saw its governmental activities net (deficit) balance improve by 

approx. $467-thousand to a net deficit of approx. $1.6-million, due to the 
combined impact of the excess of revenues relative to expenses at the general 
governmental fund-level operating activities and other Government-wide 
statement conversion add-backs (such as capitalizing fixed asset additions, 
applying debt payment to principal, etc) which were added to by Plan-level 
PSERS pension expenses and related GASB No. 68 adjustments and depreciation.  
These changes and related adjustments are detailed in the Statement of Activities 
included in the accompanying financial statements. 

 The District decreased its outstanding bonds, lease and Authority obligations 
payable by approximately $212-thousand, to a balance of approximately $3.46-
million as of June 30, 2022.  The reduction reflects ordinary course payments on 
the 2019 GOB and other of the District’s outstanding obligations.  The District’s 
activity in long-term debt is detailed in the following pages and the notes to the 
financial statements.  

 The operations of the District’s General Fund finished the year with 
approximately $14.5-million of revenue (which was $616-thousand (4.4 %) 
favorable as compared to budget) and approx. $14.2-million of expenditures 
(which was approx. $310-thousand, or 2.2% favorable to budget).  Further details 
are highlighted below. 

 The District’s General Fund ended the year with a fund balance of approximately 
$3.9-million, an increase of approx. $282-thousand or 7.2%.  The District 
commits portions of this balance for funding of post-retirement health care, 
compensated absences, increases to funding requirements of pension 
contributions, classroom technology and building improvement expenditure 
commitments, and future increases in costs associated with other matters as noted 
in the following discussion as well as the accompanying financial statements and 
corresponding footnotes. 

 
A Brief Guide to the Financial Statements: 
The financial statements of the District include presentation on two levels: 
 

 Government-wide statements 
 Governmental fund statements 
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Government-wide Statements: 
These statements present the District’s financial information in an aggregated format split 
into two types of activities: 
 

 Governmental activities 
 Business-type activities 

 
Most of the activities of the District are reported as governmental activities.  The 
operations of the District’s Food Service Fund, whose operations involve primarily the 
serving of meals to students during the school day, is the District’s only business-type 
activity. 
 
The presentation provided in these government-wide statements is primarily focused on 
presenting the financial position of the District and the change in financial position as a 
result of the activities that occurred during the fiscal year.  The significant differences in 
these statements as compared to governmental fund statements are: 
 

• Government-wide statements include fixed assets for governmental 
activities—government fund statements do not. 

• Government-wide statements include long-term debt and other long-term 
obligations for governmental activities—government fund statements do not. 

• Government-wide statements are prepared utilizing the accrual basis of 
accounting—government fund statements are generally prepared utilizing a 
modified accrual basis of accounting.  This results in differences in the timing 
of the recognition of certain revenues. 

• Government-wide statements present in a format to highlight Net Position.  
Government fund statements deal with Fund Balance.  Net Position is a much 
broader financial measurement. 

 
For a more detailed explanation of these financial statements, please review the notes to 
the financial statements. 
 
Government Fund Statements: 
This format is concerned primarily with the presentation of “the flow of funds” rather 
than with measuring financial position.  This is the presentation format which is utilized 
for preparation of budgets and is presented on a more disaggregated format than the 
government-wide statements.  
 
This format, as with the government-wide statements, presents information by firstly 
grouping funds by type.  In the case of governmental funds, the types are: 
 

o Governmental funds 
o Proprietary funds 
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These statements are presented by type and then utilizing criteria to identify “major 
funds” presenting information on a segregated basis for each of the major funds and then 
aggregating the information for all other funds within the fund type.   
 
The District has the following “major funds” for government fund statement presentation: 

• Governmental funds 
o General fund 
o Capital Reserve 
o Capital Projects 
o Scholarship fund and Student activities funds 

 (moved from Fiduciary funds in prior year (GASB 84)) 
• Proprietary funds 

o Food service fund (The District’s only proprietary fund). 
 

For more information regarding the presentation of fund financial statements, please 
review the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Condensed Government-wide Financial Statements: 
 
Condensed Statement of Net Position as of June 30, 2022: 
 

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

Assets & Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Current and other assets 8,980,982$       160,217$          9,141,199$       
Capital assets 14,202,332$     133$                 14,202,465$     
Deferred outflows 3,819,903$       -$                     3,819,903$       
        Total assets & deferred outflows 27,003,217$     160,350$          27,163,567$     

Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Current liabilities 2,268,243$       159,030$          2,427,273$       
Long-term liabilities 23,182,913$     -$                     23,182,913$     
Deferred inflows 3,173,815$       -$                     3,173,815$       
        Total liabilities & deferred inflows 28,624,971$     159,030$          28,784,001$     

Net Position:
Invested in capital assets net of related debt 10,743,970$     133$                 10,744,103$     
Restricted for specific purposes 4,891,282$       -$                     4,891,282$       
Unrestricted (17,257,006)$   1,187$              (17,255,819)$   

(1,621,754)$     1,320$              (1,620,434)$     
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, & Net Position 27,003,217$     160,350$          27,163,567$      
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Comments regarding the condensed June 30, 2022 government-wide statements: 
Statement of Net Position: 
 
 Cash, cash equivalents and investments (current assets) are primarily held in 

accounts with First Columbia Bank & Trust (repurchase agreements), the 
Pennsylvania School District Liquid Asset Fund (CDs and government 
investment pools), and RBC Capital Markets (US treasuries, strips and money 
market accounts).  

 Taxes receivable (current assets) include delinquent real estate taxes along with 
current earned income tax collections, largely from the June 30, 2022 quarter, but 
also from prior quarters.   

 Accrued salaries and benefits (current liabilities) consist primarily of the amounts 
due teachers for salaries and benefits earned in the 2021-22 school year that are 
paid over a twelve-month period beginning when the District’s academic year 
begins in late August through the following August. These are the remaining 
amounts which will be paid in July and August, 2022 in addition to amounts due 
but not paid to retiring employees.   

 Fixed assets (capital assets) are presented net of depreciation and include the 
District’s facilities and equipment. 

 The District has adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
Statement No. 68 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions (as amended; 
GASB No. 68).  Per GASB No. 68, the District reports its cost-sharing employer 
proportionate portion, approx. $17.5-million, of the Pennsylvania School 
Employees’ Retirement System (PSERS) Net Pension Liability in its Statement of 
Net Position.  The District records its proportionate share of the PSERS system-
wide Net Pension Liability, related Deferred Inflow and Outflow balances and 
adjustments to Pension expense to reflect the requirements of GASB No. 68.  
These adjustments, balances, and amounts are reflected in the government-wide 
financial statements only. 

 The District also has adopted GASB No. 75 Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (GASB No. 75) as of July 1, 
2017.  Per GASB No. 75, the District accounts for its offering of covered benefits 
under the State-level (PSERS premium assistance, a proportionate share of the 
statewide plan similar to the PSERS pension, as above) and a District-level other 
postemployment benefit (OPEB) plans.  The year-end balances of the plans were 
approximately $1.0-million and $1.1-million for the PSERS-State-level plan and 
the District-level plan, respectively.  As with GASB 68, GASB No. 75 also has no 
reporting effect on the governmental fund financial statements. 
 

The notes to the financial statements provide additional detail on these and other items 
included in the Statement of Net Position. 
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Condensed Statement of Activities Year Ended June 30, 2022:  
 

Net (Expense) Revenue and

 Changes in Net Position

Operating

and Capital

Charges for Grants and Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Activities Activities Total

Governmental activities:

 Instruction 8,788,167$     86,616$            3,247,738$    (5,453,813)$            (5,453,813)$     

 Instructional Student Support 1,494,741       -                        121,219         (1,373,522)              (1,373,522)       

 Admin. & Financial Support Services 1,364,457       -                        121,712         (1,242,745)              (1,242,745)       

 Operation & Maintenance of Facilities 1,265,199       -                        69,949           (1,195,250)              (1,195,250)       

 Pupil Transportation 693,210          -                        370,109         (323,101)                 (323,101)          

 Student Activities 350,853          -                        109,504         (241,349)                 (241,349)          

 Community Services 14,267            -                        -                     (14,267)                   (14,267)            

 Interest on Long-Term debt 129,195          -                        -                     (129,195)                 (129,195)          

Total Governmental Activities 14,100,089     86,616              4,040,231      (9,973,242)              (9,973,242)       

Business-type activities:

 Food Service 339,719          38,455 400,259         98,995             98,995              
Total Primary Government 14,439,808$   125,071$          4,440,490$    (9,973,242)$            98,995$           (9,874,247)$     

General revenues:

    Taxes:

   Property taxes, levied for general purposes,net 4,279,604               -                       4,279,604         

  Taxes levied for specific purposes 1,548,359               -                       1,548,359         

Grants, subsidies, & contributions not restricted 4,554,370               -                       4,554,370         

Investment Earnings 11,776                    -                       11,776              

Miscellaneous Income 45,610                    -                       45,610              

10,439,719             -                       10,439,719       

Change in Net Assets 466,477                  98,995             565,472            

Net Assets—beginning (as restated (GASB 84)) (2,088,231)              (97,675)            (2,185,906)       
Net Assets—ending (1,621,754)$            1,320$             (1,620,434)$     

Program Revenues

Total general revenues, special items, 
extraordinary items and transfers

 
 
Statement of Activities: 
 Governmental activities (program revenues) operating grants include various 

subsidies such as $542-thousand of state funds for special education, $250-
thousand of federal Title I funds to support reading remediation efforts, $3670-
thousand of state subsidy to support student transportation, and $1.4-million of 
combined state subsidies for retirement and social security costs.  

 Program revenues, likewise, include approximately $882-thousand of federal 
COVID-related funding relative to pandemic-related measures. 

 General revenues include $4.3-million of real estate taxes, $1.5-million of earned 
income taxes, and a Basic Education Subsidy funding from the state of $4.3-
million.  The Commonwealth also provided tax abatement assistance in the form 
of $284-thousand of homestead/farmstead tax relief for property taxpayers. 
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The condensed Governmental Activities Statement of Net Position at June 30, 
2022 as compared to June 30, 2021, including the change in the elements of net 
position: 
 

Governmental Activities
Inc. (Dec.)

Assets: 2022 2021 in Net Position
Current assets:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments 6,415,351$       6,612,753$   (197,402)$      
Taxes receivable-net 621,967            603,657        18,310           
Other current assets 1,943,664         974,308        969,356         
        Total current assets 8,980,982         8,190,718     790,264         

Fixed assets-net 14,202,332       14,734,550   (532,218)        
Other non-current assets -                       21,707          (21,707)          

             Total assets 23,183,314$     22,946,975$ 236,339         

Deferred Outflows: 3,819,903         4,198,278     (378,375)        

             Total assets & deferred outflows 27,003,217$     27,145,253$ (142,036)        

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 539,164$          149,182$      (389,982)        
Accrued salaries and benefits 1,617,528         1,704,910     87,382           
Current portion of long-term debt 190,000            206,707        16,707           
Other current liabilities (78,449)            (277,106)       (198,657)        
        Total current liabilities 2,268,243         1,783,693     (484,550)        

Bonds payable-net of current portion 3,268,362         3,463,766     195,404         
Net pension liability 17,531,000       21,124,000   3,593,000      
OPEB liabilities 2,117,933         2,060,543     (57,390)          
Other non-current liabilities 265,618            275,482        9,864             

             Total liabilities 25,451,156       28,707,484   3,256,328      

Deferred Inflows: 3,173,815         526,000        2,647,815      
Net Position (Deficit):

Invested in capital assets-net of related debt 10,743,970       11,085,784   (341,814)        
Restricted & unrestricted (12,365,724)     (13,174,015)  808,291         
            Total Net Position (1,621,754)       (2,088,231)    466,477$       

            Total Liabilities, Deferred
            Inflows, & Net Position 27,003,217$     27,145,253$  

June 30,
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Comments on the changes in the Governmental Activities Statement of Net Position: 
 
 The $197-thousand decrease in cash and investments relates to the combination of 

the expenditure of General Fund fund balance and the relative timing of payments 
made to vendors, employees, and others and payments received from tax 
collections, other governments, and others.   

 The $18-thousand increase in taxes receivable relates to improved volume and 
overall timing (faster) of collections including continued improvement in current 
property tax receipts and earned income tax realization at June 30, 2022.   

 Fixed assets-net decreased by $532-thousand as net additions to fixed assets, of 
approximately $645-thousand were exceeded by the governmental activities’ 
depreciation expense of approximately $1.2-million.  

 The approximately $212-thousand decrease in bonds payable and lease purchase 
obligations reflects the continued ordinary course pay-down of the District’s debt. 

 The $87-thousand (approximate) decrease in accrued salaries and benefits reflects 
the increase in underlying compensation and benefits costs as well as the relative 
timing of payments as compared to prior-year. 

 Other current liabilities, as presented in the previous page, reflect primarily a net 
internal/interfund receivable balance, primarily resulting from activity with the 
District’s cafeteria fund, representing the District’s only Business-type activity.   

 The District’s net pension liability decreased by approximately $3.6-million in 
current year (as further compared to an increase of $1.6-million in prior year as 
preceded by decreases in of $200-300-thousand per year in the next two most 
recent prior years, respectively).  This variability results from actuarial and other 
valuation work relative to the state-wide PSERS pension system (including 
changes in assumptions), the valuation and performance of PSERS’ pension 
funding investments, and changes in the District’s relative, proportionate share of 
the PSERS system, state-wide pension liability. 

 The District and PSERS OPEB Plan obligations decreased (by $27-thousand) and 
increased (by $84-thousand), respectively.  In each case, the increases were 
primarily reflective of changes in actuarial and other assumptions, including 
industry-discount interest rates used in present-valuing the Plans’ liabilities, and 
other performance components of the respective Plans outside of the District’s 
direct control. 

 
Additional information regarding these matters can be found in the accompanying 
financial statements and notes. 
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The condensed Business-type Activities Statement of Net Position June 30, 2022 as 
compared to June 30, 2021 including the change in the elements of net position: 
 

Business-type Activities
Inc. (Dec.)

Assets: 2022 2021 in Net Position
Current assets:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments 144,547$          210,929$      (66,382)$        
Other current assets 15,670              49,879          (34,209)          
        Total current assets 160,217            260,808        (100,591)        

Fixed assets-net 133                   400               (267)               

             Total assets 160,350$          261,208$      (100,858)        

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 10,526$            28,956$        18,430           
Accrued salaries and benefits -                       -                    -                     
Other current liabilities 148,504            329,927        181,423         
        Total current liabilities 159,030            358,883        199,853         

Other non-current liabilities -                       -                    -                     
             Total liabilities 159,030            358,883        199,853         

             Change in net assets 98,995$         
Net Position (Deficit):

Invested in capital assets-net of related debt 133                   400               (267)               
Restricted & unrestricted 1,187                (98,075)         99,262           
            Total Net Position 1,320                (97,675)         98,995$         

            Total Liabilities and Net Position 160,350$          261,208$      

June 30,

 
 
Comments on the changes in Business-type (Food Service) activities Statement of 
Net Assets: 
 COVID-19 Pandemic-related relief funding impacted the Food Service program 

in terms of operations and the timing of payments as indicated by the $99-
thousand increase in Net Position.  The change from the prior year is reflective of 
increased volume of operations as in-person instruction and in-person breakfast 
and lunch returned to more routine, pre-Pandemic levels.  COVID-19 financial 
response measures included continuation of the Federal policy of all students 
being classified as eligible for free breakfasts and lunches as well as State and 
Federal funding infusions via increased reimbursement rates and revenue 
replacement funding calculated and provided based upon State determinations of 
lost revenue from the outset of the Pandemic.  The $181-thousand decrease in the 
payable due to the General Fund, which had been financing food service 
operations, is due to the availability of cash from the aforementioned subsidies 
and the resulting improved timing of net settlements, primarily for food service 
employee salaries and benefits. 
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A Condensed Comparative Statement of Activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2022, as compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021: 
 

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Functions/Programs 2022 2021 $ Change % Change
Expenses-

Governmental activities:

 Instruction 8,788,167$                10,308,203$              1,520,036$          14.7%

 Instructional Student Support 1,494,741                  1,537,440                  42,699                 2.8%

 Admin. & Financial Support Services 1,364,457                  1,472,493                  108,036               7.3%

 Operation & Maintenance of Facilities 1,265,199                  1,403,563                  138,364               9.9%

 Pupil Transportation 693,210                     623,193                     (70,017)                -11.2%

 Student Activities 350,853                     280,229                     (70,624)                -25.2%

 Community Services 14,267                       23,777                       9,510                   40.0%

 Interest on Long-Term debt 129,195                     133,974                     4,779                   3.6%

Total Governmental Activities 14,100,089                15,782,872                1,682,783            10.7%

Business-type activities:

 Food Service 339,719                     311,224                     (28,495)$              -9.2%

                                  Total Expense 14,439,808                16,094,096                1,654,288            10.3%

Program Revenues & Charges for Services-
Governmental activities:

 Instruction 3,334,354$                2,441,859$                892,495$             36.5%

 Instructional Student Support 121,219                     110,792                     10,427                 9.4%

 Admin. & Financial Support Services 121,712                     109,467                     12,245                 11.2%

 Operation & Maintenance of Facilities 69,949                       63,363                       6,586                   10.4%

 Pupil Transportation 370,109                     522,321                     (152,212)              -29.1%

 Student Activities 109,504                     57,478                       52,026                 90.5%

 Interest on Long-Term debt -                                 7,042                         (7,042)                  0.0%

Total Governmental Activities 4,126,847                  3,312,822                  814,025               24.6%

Business-type activities:

 Food Service 438,714                     260,408                     178,306               68.5%

                                  Total Program Revenues & Charges for Services 4,565,561                  3,573,230                  992,331               27.8%

General revenues:

Taxes:

   Property taxes, levied for general purposes,net 4,279,604                  4,042,666                  236,938               5.9%

  Taxes levied for specific purposes 1,548,359                  1,493,339                  55,020                 3.7%

Grants, subsidies, & contributions not restricted 4,554,370                  4,494,669                  59,701                 1.3%

Investment Earnings-governmental activities 11,776                       12,951                       (1,175)                  

Miscellaneous Income 45,610                       12,578                       33,032                 262.6%

                                  Total General Revenues 10,439,719                10,056,203                383,516               3.8%
                                                         Change in Net Position 565,472$                   (2,464,663)$               3,030,135$          

Net (Expense) for
Fiscal year ended

June 30,
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Comments on changes in the Condensed Statement of Activities between fiscal 
years: 
 
 The overall decrease in instructional cost as compared to prior year is related to a 

combination of factors:  favorable adjustments to Pension-related costs, as 
determined at the PSERS-system-wide level, largely related to system-wide 
investment performance and changes in actual Plan performance as compared to 
expectations, for which the District’s proportionate share contributed $585-
thousand or approximately a 38% of the decrease in instructional cost.  Decreased 
depreciation expense combined with increased add-backs for capitalization of 
current year additions, as compared to prior year, contributed an additional 
combined $192-thousand decrease.  Finally, cost containment measures in the 
area of the General Fund operation of instructional programs contributed an 
additional approximately $317-thousand.  These cost decreases as offset by 
contractual salary increases and corresponding higher expenditures for retirement 
benefits, as required under the collective bargaining unit agreements with the 
District’s educational professionals (teachers) and support staff.  Cost-
containment measures included reduced levels of operating and classroom 
supplies and as well as professional instruction employee headcount decreases 
and favorable relative composition of the headcount following retirements and 
other forms of attrition.  General Fund cost savings were offset by an overall 
increase in costs (approximately $68-thousand) for other post-employment 
benefits (OPEB). 

 Increased costs for the operation and maintenance of facilities combined with 
inter-related capital outlay costs at the General Fund operations level were 
mitigated by similar increases in capitalization of those costs for Statement of 
Activities presentation.  The increased General Fund costs were associated with 
the performance of certain previously deferred maintenance activities (such as 
roofing), as well as maintenance and related activities associated with Pandemic 
response (such as air quality equipment purchases and installation) and other 
capital improvement projects.  The expensing of these capital improvements is 
over a period of 15-20 years in the Statement of Activities as compared to current 
expensing as incurred in the General Fund.  Further, similar to instruction costs 
above, maintenance costs per the statement of activities benefitted from a 
decreased level of pension-related costs, net of OPEB increases, of approximately 
$30-thousand. 

 The increase in instruction-related revenues has to do with the combination of 
increased revenues for reimbursed portions of retirement and social security in the 
form of state reimbursement as well as increased revenue recognized under 
Federal COVID-19-response-related grant funded programs. 

 Property tax revenue increased from the prior year due to the combined impact of 
increases in millage and related increased assessments due to property 
improvements.   
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The General Fund Budget vs. Actual for the June 30, 2022 Fiscal Year: 
 

Variance With
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)
REVENUES

Local Sources 5,919,993$               5,919,993$               6,262,777$               342,784$                   

State Sources 7,034,826                 7,034,826$               7,031,609                 (3,217)                        

Federal Sources 909,733                    909,733$                  1,185,865                 276,132                     
     Total Revenues 13,864,552               13,864,552               14,480,251               615,699                     

EXPENDITURES
Regular education programs 5,310,661                 5,310,661                 5,422,288                 (111,627)                    

Special education programs 2,008,104                 2,008,104                 1,837,004                 171,100                     

Vocational education programs 817,650                    817,650                    945,908                    (128,258)                    

Other instructional programs 105,850                    105,850                    82,216                      23,634                       

Pupil personnel support services 682,699                    682,699                    672,150                    10,549                       

Instructional staff support services 945,830                    945,830                    980,245                    (34,415)                      

Administrative services 904,487                    904,487                    938,774                    (34,287)                      

Pupil health services 161,894                    161,894                    91,332                      70,562                       

Business services 395,143                    395,143                    410,059                    (14,916)                      

Operation & maintenance of facilities 1,421,237                 1,421,237                 1,305,742                 115,495                     

Student transportation services 712,742                    712,742                    694,231                    18,511                       

Central & other support services 37,433                      37,433                      34,793                      2,640                         

Student activities 294,970                    294,970                    290,501                    4,469                         

Community services 25,062                      25,062                      5,367                        19,695                       

Capital outlay -                               -                               192,442                    192,442                     

Debt Service (Principal & Interest) 325,357                    325,357                    320,524                    4,833                         
     Total Expenditures 14,149,119               14,149,119               14,223,576               310,427                     

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures (284,567)                   (284,567)                   256,675                    541,242                     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers (Out) (15,000)                     (15,000)                     -                               15,000                       

Insurance Recoveries -                               -                               25,500                      25,500                       

Net Change in Fund Balances (299,567)                   (299,567)                   282,175                    

Fund Balance  -  Beginning of Year 2,888,956                 2,888,956                 3,636,783                 

Fund Balance  -  End of Year 2,589,389$               2,589,389$               3,918,958$               

 
Comments on actual results as compared to budget: 
 
 Local Revenues reflected an approximately $343-thousand favorable budget 

variance due to earned income and real estate transfer tax revenues exceeding 
budgetary estimates which were formulated in expectation of a greater than 
realized pandemic-related financial impact to fiscal 2021-22 by over $300-
thousand, combined.  This positive variance was furthered by similar, but less 
significant variances current and deferred real-estate tax revenues which added 
approximately an additional $30-thousand, combined.   

 The total State Revenues were consistent with prior-year and with budget.  
Federal revenues, however, exceeded budget (and correspond to related increases 
in pandemic-response-related costs) as pertains to CARES and related COVID-
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relief funding grants which were estimated in the adopted budget but subject to 
expected timing variability due to implementation timing and, in some cases, 
supply chain and other related delays. 

 Significant favorable budget variances for expenditures, overall $133-thousand 
(excluding capital outlay) include favorable (lower-than-budget) compensation 
due to the combination of relative staffing levels and staffing rate mixes.  The 
savings were utilized to fund the classroom facility improvements (including new 
roofing and air quality equipment) and replacements of approximately $300-
thousand placed into service during the year, funded by the General Fund.   

 
Long-term debt activity in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022: 
 

Balance Additional Repayments/ Balance
Description  June 30, 2021 Borrowings Reductions  June 30, 2022

Governmental activities:
General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2019 3,565,000$      -$                   185,000$        3,380,000$      
Less-Deferred amounts-
     For issuance discounts -                      -                     -                     -                      
     For issuance premiums 83,766             -                     5,404              78,362             
           Total bonds payable 3,648,766        -                     190,404          3,458,362        

Columbia Montour AVTS Notes of 2015 21,707             -                     21,707            -                      
Compensated Absences-Governmental activities 275,482           7,145              17,009            265,618           

   Governmental activities long-term debt 3,945,955$      7,145$            229,120$        3,723,980$      

 
See the notes to the financial statements for details of the existing debt.   
 
Capital asset activity summary as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022: 
 
Governmental Activities Fixed Assets:

Depreciation
Expense Accumulated Net

Cost Retirements/ Cost For Year-ended Depreciation Asset
Description June 30, 2021 Additions Transfers June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022

Land 370,179$       -$                 -$                  370,179$       -$                   -$                   370,179$       
Land improvements 1,150,329      -                   -                    1,150,329      51,973           959,475          190,854         
Buildings & improvements 30,898,287    312,583        -                    31,210,870    889,212         18,364,105     12,846,765    
Machinery & equipment 6,081,125      333,090        (95,910)         6,318,305      226,314         5,569,382       748,923         
Vehicles 168,572         -                   -                    168,572         10,392           122,961          45,611           

38,668,492$  645,673$      (95,910)$       39,218,255$  1,177,891$    25,015,923$   14,202,332$  

June 30, 2022
Fiscal Year-ended
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Food Service Fixed Assets:
Depreciation

Expense Accumulated Net
Cost Retirements/ Cost For Year-ended Depreciation Asset

Description June 30, 2021 Additions Transfers June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022
Machinery & equipment 397,615$       -$                 -$                  397,615$       267$              397,482$        133$              

397,615$       -$                 -$                  397,615$       267$              397,482$        133$              

Fiscal Year-ended
June 30, 2022

 
As a continuation of previous years activities, fiscal year 2022 capital asset additions 
were primarily for two categories:  1.) building improvements in the form classroom 
renovations as programs are updated, roof overhauls, and indoor air quality improvement 
heavy equipment; and 2.) computer equipment in support of classroom and District-wide 
computing and safe schools building security.   
 
Potential/Future Issues: 
 The Pennsylvania School Employee Retirement Board, a multi-employer pension 

plan covering substantially all of the District’s employees, has projected 
significant increases to employer and state contribution rates based on actuarial 
calculations as provided by state law.  There is uncertainty as to the extent and 
resolution of this shortfall but it has the potential of a significant negative impact 
on the District in the form of increases in required employer contributions in 
future years. 

 The combined impact of economic uncertainty, anticipated increases to retirement 
funding obligations, and cost increases associated with labor and related benefits 
and associated costs and operational considerations, including inflation, poses a 
challenge to both the District and Commonwealth to fund operations. 

 The Commonwealth has imposed restrictions and limitations on the ability of 
school districts to raise revenue via future tax increases while labor related and 
other operating costs rise beyond the ability to accommodate with revenue 
enhancements.  The School District will be required to consider operational 
changes and pursue operational efficiencies 

 During March 2020, the pandemic outbreak of the COVID-19 strain of 
coronavirus resulted in the declaration of national and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania states of emergency.  As a result, the Commonwealth’s governor 
ordered all public school districts to close to students for an extended period in an 
effort to stem the transmission of the virus.  The closure, re-opening, and related 
mitigation efforts and other, related circumstances have caused and may be 
assumed to continue to cause operational difficulties.  While there is uncertainty 
as to the timing of the pandemic’s end, the District continues to explore and has 
identified certain operational adaptations to allow for the continued delivery of 
educational and other services.   
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 Additionally, the District and most, if not all, other School Districts in the 
Commonwealth have received appropriations of significant federal and state grant 
funding in support of pandemic mitigation, re-opening, and operating efforts.  
Certain of the current year COVID-related funding are denoted with “COVID-19” 
in the accompanying financial statements, notes, and supplementary materials, 
schedules, etc. 

 During July-August 2021, the District became committed to fund its proportionate 
share of renovation activities associated with its membership in the joint venture:  
the Columbia-Montour Vocational Technical School (CMVTS).  The District’s 
estimated approximately $1-million share (of which approximately 10% was 
funded to CMVTS in September 2021) of the renovations were initially expected 
to commence in fiscal 2021-2022 but have since been delayed.  This amount is in 
addition to the District’s existing debt service and other operational commitments 
both in terms of District facilities and other CMVTS commitments.  In August 
2022, the District borrowed an additional $1.1-million to fund its anticipated 
CMVTS commitments. 
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 Richard B. Snodgrass & Co. 
 Audit, Tax, and Advisory 
 1117 Cemetery Road 
 Montoursville, Pennsylvania 17754 
 
 570-220-4990 
 FAX 570-433-4728 
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 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
Board of Directors 
Millville Area School District 
330 East Main Street 
Millville, Pennsylvania 17846 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Millville Area School 
District (the District) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents.    
 
In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Millville Area School District as of June 30, 2022, 
and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (GAS).  Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial 
Statements section of our report.  We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other 
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
The District's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 



 
 -2- 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and GAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material 
if there is substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgement 
made by a reasonable user based upon the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and GAS, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion.   

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.   

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis (MD&A) information on pages MD&A 1 through 12 and the schedule of the 
District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability on page RSI-1, the schedule of the District’s 
contributions to pensions on page RSI-2,  the schedules of changes in the District’s total OPEB liability 
and related ratios on page RSI-3, the schedule of the District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB 
liability on page RSI-4, and the schedule of the District’s OPEB contributions on page RSI-5, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, though not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) who 
considers it to be an essential part of the financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
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appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to 
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because 
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the District’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal 
(and state) awards as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200 Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance), is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the District’s basic 
financial statements.   
 
The schedule of expenditures of federal (and state) awards is the responsibility of the District’s 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America.  In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal (and state) awards is fairly stated, in 
all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards we have also issued our report dated March 30, 2023 
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 

  
Richard B. Snodgrass & Co. 
Montoursville, Pennsylvania 
March 30, 2023 
 



Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

Assets and Deferred Outflows
of Resources:

Assets:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 6,415,351$      144,547$         6,559,898$      
Taxes receivable-net 621,967           -                      621,967           
Due from other governments 1,840,540        14,338             1,854,878        
Other receivables 2,700               -                      2,700               
Inventories -                      1,332               1,332               
Prepaid expenses 100,424           -                      100,424           

   Total current assets 8,980,982        160,217           9,141,199        

Noncurrent assets:
  Capital assets:

Land and land improvements-net 561,033           -                      561,033           
Buildings and improvements-net 12,846,765      -                      12,846,765      
Furniture and equipment-net 794,534           133                  794,667           

   Total capital assets 14,202,332      133                  14,202,465      

            Total Assets 23,183,314      160,350           23,343,664      

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Pension 3,210,761        -                      3,210,761        
Other postemployment benefits plans 609,142           -                      609,142           
            Total Deferred Outflows
            of Resources: 3,819,903        -                      3,819,903        

            Total Assets and Deferred
            Outflows of Resources: 27,003,217      160,350           27,163,567      

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
of Resources and Net Position:

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 539,164           10,526             549,690           
Accrued salaries and benefits 1,617,528        -                      1,617,528        
Internal balances (131,731)          131,731           -                      
Current portion of long-term debt 190,000           -                      190,000           
Unearned revenue 5,486               16,773             22,259             
Other current liabilities 47,796             -                      47,796             

   Total current liabilities 2,268,243        159,030           2,427,273        

Noncurrent liabilities:
Bonds payable-net of current portion 3,268,362        -                      3,268,362        
Long-term portion of compensated absences 265,618           -                      265,618           
OPEB - PSERS Plan 1,011,000        -                      1,011,000        
OPEB - District Plan 1,106,933        -                      1,106,933        
Net pension liability 17,531,000      -                      17,531,000      

   Total noncurrent liabilities 23,182,913      -                      23,182,913      

            Total Liabilities 25,451,156      159,030           25,610,186      

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Unearned revenue -                      -                      -                      
Pension 3,093,000        -                      3,093,000        
Other postemployment benefits plans 80,815             -                      80,815             
            Total Deferred Inflows
            of Resources: 3,173,815        -                      3,173,815        

Net Position:
Invested in capital assets-net of related debt 10,743,970      133                  10,744,103      
Restricted:
     Capital projects & debt service 2,649,091        -                      2,649,091        
     Future retirement funding rate changes 640,146           -                      640,146           
     Post-employment health care 1,133,543        -                      1,133,543        
     Compensated absences 275,482           -                      275,482           
     Future CMAVTS assessments 17,782             -                      17,782             
     Other 175,238           -                      175,238           
Unrestricted (17,257,006)     1,187               (17,255,819)     

            Total Net Position (1,621,754)       1,320               (1,620,434)       

            Total Liabilities, Deferred
            Inflows of Resources and 
            Net Position: 27,003,217$    160,350$         27,163,567$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Net (Expense) Revenue and

Program Revenues  Changes in Net Assets

Indirect Operating Capital

Expenses Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Allocation Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Governmental activities:

 Instruction 8,788,167$     -$                      86,616$         3,247,738$             -$                     (5,453,813)$     (5,453,813)$       

 Instructional Student Support 1,494,741       -                        -                     121,219                  -                       (1,373,522)       (1,373,522)         

 Admin. & Financial Support Services 1,364,457       -                        -                     121,712                  -                       (1,242,745)       (1,242,745)         

 Operation & Maintenance of Facilities 1,265,199       -                        -                     69,949                    -                       (1,195,250)       (1,195,250)         

 Pupil Transportation 693,210          -                        -                     370,109                  -                       (323,101)          (323,101)            

 Student Activities 350,853          -                        -                     109,504                  -                       (241,349)          (241,349)            

 Community Services 14,267            -                        -                     -                              -                       (14,267)            (14,267)              

 Interest on Long-Term debt 129,195          -                        -                     -                              -                       (129,195)          (129,195)            

Total Governmental Activities 14,100,089     86,616           4,040,231               -                       (9,973,242)       (9,973,242)         

Business-type activities:

 Food Service 339,719          38,455 400,259                  -                       -                        98,995               98,995                

Total Primary Government 14,439,808$   125,071$       4,440,490$             -$                     (9,973,242)$     98,995$             (9,874,247)$       

General revenues:

    Taxes:

   Property taxes, levied for general purposes,net 4,279,604        -                         4,279,604          

  Taxes levied for specific purposes 1,548,359        -                         1,548,359          

Grants, subsidies, & contributions not restricted 4,554,370        -                         4,554,370          

Investment Earnings 11,776              -                         11,776                

Miscellaneous Income 45,610              -                         45,610                

Total general revenues, special items, extraordinary items and transfers 10,439,719      -                         10,439,719        

Change in Net Position 466,477            98,995               565,472              

Net Position—beginning (2,088,231)       (97,675)             (2,185,906)         

Net Position—ending (1,621,754)$     1,320$               (1,620,434)$       

Millville Area School District
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Total
General Capital Capital Student Governmental

Fund Reserve Projects Scholarship Activities Funds
Assets and Deferred

Outflows of Resources:
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 3,591,022$    2,649,049$    42$                109,705$       65,533$         6,415,351$    
Taxes receivable-net 621,967         -                    -                    -                    -                    621,967         
Interfund receivables 131,731         -                    -                    -                    -                    131,731         
Intergovernmental receivables 1,840,540      -                    -                    -                    -                    1,840,540      
Inventories -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                     
Other receivables 2,700             -                    -                    -                    -                    2,700             
Prepaid expenses 100,424         -                    -                    -                    -                    100,424         

        Total assets 6,288,384      2,649,049      42                  109,705         65,533           9,112,713      

Deferred Outflows of
Resources: -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                     

   Total Assets & Deferred
   Outflows 6,288,384      2,649,049      42                  109,705         65,533           9,112,713      

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
of Resources, and Fund Balances:

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 539,164         -                    -                    -                    -                    539,164         
Accrued salaries & benefits 1,617,528      -                    -                    -                    -                    1,617,528      
Unearned revenue-grants 5,486             -                    -                    -                    -                    5,486             
Other current liabilities 20,317           -                    -                    -                    -                    20,317           

        Total liabilities 2,182,495      -                    -                    -                    -                    2,182,495      

Deferred Inflows of
Resources:

Unearned revenue 186,931         -                    -                    -                    -                    186,931         
        Total deferred inflows 186,931         -                    -                    -                    -                    186,931         

Fund Balances:
Non-spendable -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                     
Restricted -                    -                    -                    109,705         65,533           175,238         
Committed 1,511,456      -                    -                    -                    -                    1,511,456      
Assigned -                    2,649,049      42                  -                    -                    2,649,091      
Unassigned fund balance 2,407,502      -                    -                    -                    -                    2,407,502      

          Total fund balance 3,918,958      2,649,049      42                  109,705         65,533           6,743,287      

   Total Liabilities, Deferred
   Inflows & Fund Balance 6,288,384      2,649,049      42                  109,705         65,533           9,112,713      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Total Fund Balances  -  Governmental Funds 6,743,287$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net assets are different because:

Capital Assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore are not reported as assets in governmental funds.  The cost
of assets is $39,218,255 and the accumulated depreciation is $25,015,923. 14,202,332      

Property taxes receivable will be collected this year, but are not available
soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures, and, therefore, 
are recorded as unearned revenues in the funds balance sheet. 186,931           

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payble, are not due and payable
in the current period, and therefore are not reported as liabilities in
the funds.  Long-term liabilities at year end consist of:

Bonds payable, net (3,458,362)       
Accrued interest on the bonds (27,479)            

Compensated absences (265,618)          
OPEB Liabilities (2,117,933)       

Net Pension Liability (17,531,000)    

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pension and
OPEB amounts to be recognized and/or realized in future periods
are not reported in governmental funds

Deferred outflows-pension 3,210,761        
Deferred inflows-pension (3,093,000)       
Deferred outflows-OPEB 609,142           
Deferred inflows-OPEB (80,815)            

Total Net Position  -  Governmental Activities (1,621,754)$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Student

General Fund Capital Reserve Capital Projects Scholarship Activities Total Gov. Funds

REVENUES

Local Sources 6,262,777$               5,230$                     -$                             561$                         72,053$                    6,340,621$                

State Sources 7,031,609                 -                               -                               -                               -                               7,031,609                  

Federal Sources 1,185,865                 -                               -                               -                               -                               1,185,865                  

     Total Revenues 14,480,251               5,230                       -                               561                           72,053                      14,558,095                

EXPENDITURES

Instruction 8,287,416                 -                               -                               -                               -                               8,287,416                  

Support Services 5,127,326                 -                               -                               -                               -                               5,127,326                  

Non-instructional Services 295,868                    -                               -                               8,900                        71,508                      376,276                     

Capital Outlay 192,442                    -                               -                               -                               -                               192,442                     

Debt Service (Principal & Interest) 320,524                    -                               -                               -                               -                               320,524                     

-                                

     Total Expenditures 14,223,576               -                               -                               8,900                        71,508                      14,303,984                

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures 256,675                    5,230                       -                               (8,339)                      545                           254,111                     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Insurance Recoveries 25,500                      -                               -                               -                               -                               25,500                       

Net Change in Fund Balances 282,175                    5,230                       -                               (8,339)                      545                           279,611                     

Fund Balance  -  Beginning of Year 3,636,783                 2,643,819                42                             118,044                    64,988                      6,463,676                  

Fund Balance  -  End of Year 3,918,958$               2,649,049$              42$                           109,705$                  65,533$                    6,743,287$                

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Millville Area School District
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022



Total net change in fund balances  -  governmental funds 279,611$          

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement
of activities are different because:

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is
allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.
Net carrying values of disposed fixed assets are expenses in the
statement of activities and are compared to sale proceeds, if any,
to determine the amount of gains or losses from disposals.  The
amounts of depreciation, capital outlays, and fixed asset disposals
during the period are as follow:

Depreciation expense (1,177,891)        
Capital Outlays 645,673            

Because some property and other taxes will not be collected for 
several months after the District's fiscal year ends, they are not 
considered as "available" revenues in the governmental funds 
and the revenue is deferred.  Unearned tax revenues increased
(decreased) by this amount this year: 8,471                

Debt in governmental funds is recorded as "Other Financing Sources"
when borrowings are made and expenditures for repayment of debt.  
In government-wide statements the borrowings are recorded as 
as liabilities and repayments reduce long-term liabilities.  These 
differences result in the following reconciling items:

    Payments of principal 185,000            

Bond premiums and discounts related to time-value of money are
recorded net of bonds payable and accreted/amortized in government-
wide statements:

Amortize bond issuance premiums 5,404                

Accrued interest on long term debt (increased) decreased at current
year end as compared to the previous year end due to the
retirement of the bond issue 925                   

Post-employment liabilities (increased) decreased at current year end
as compared to the previous year end 9,864                

In the statement of activities, Pension and OPEB expense are
measured by the amounts contributed toward future retirement
during the year.  In the governmental funds, however, they are measured
by the amount of financial resources used.  This amount represents
the additional amount, net, expended in the current period in
consideration of the changes in the Net Pension and OPEB Liabilities
and the related Deferred inflows and outflows of resources: 509,420            

Change in net position of governmental activities 466,477$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Millville Area School District
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
To the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022



Variance With

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive (Negative)

REVENUES

Local Sources 5,919,993$               5,919,993$               6,262,777$               342,784$                   

State Sources 7,034,826                 7,034,826$               7,031,609                 (3,217)                       

Federal Sources 909,733                    909,733$                  1,185,865                 276,132                     

     Total Revenues 13,864,552               13,864,552               14,480,251               615,699                     

EXPENDITURES

Regular education programs 5,310,661                 5,310,661                 5,422,288                 (111,627)                   

Special education programs 2,008,104                 2,008,104                 1,837,004                 171,100                     

Vocational education programs 817,650                    817,650                    945,908                    (128,258)                   

Other instructional programs 105,850                    105,850                    82,216                      23,634                       

Pupil personnel support services 682,699                    682,699                    672,150                    10,549                       

Instructional staff support services 945,830                    945,830                    980,245                    (34,415)                     

Administrative services 904,487                    904,487                    938,774                    (34,287)                     

Pupil health services 161,894                    161,894                    91,332                      70,562                       

Business services 395,143                    395,143                    410,059                    (14,916)                     

Operation & maintenance of facilities 1,421,237                 1,421,237                 1,305,742                 115,495                     

Student transportation services 712,742                    712,742                    694,231                    18,511                       

Central & other support services 37,433                      37,433                      34,793                      2,640                         

Student activities 294,970                    294,970                    290,501                    4,469                         

Community services 25,062                      25,062                      5,367                        19,695                       

Capital outlay -                               -                               192,442                    192,442                     

Debt Service (Principal & Interest) 325,357                    325,357                    320,524                    4,833                         

     Total Expenditures 14,149,119               14,149,119               14,223,576               310,427                     

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures (284,567)                  (284,567)                  256,675                    541,242                     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers (Out) (15,000)                    (15,000)                    -                               15,000                       

Insurance Recoveries -                               -                               25,500                      25,500                       

Net Change in Fund Balances (299,567)                  (299,567)                  282,175                    

Fund Balance  -  Beginning of Year 2,888,956                 2,888,956                 3,636,783                 

Fund Balance  -  End of Year 2,589,389$               2,589,389$               3,918,958$               

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Millville Area School District
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

General Fund
Budget and Actual

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022



Statement of Net Position-Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2022

Food Service
Fund

Assets and Deferred
Outflows of Resources:

Assets:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 144,547$          
Due from other governments 14,338              
Inventories 1,332                

   Total current assets 160,217            

Noncurrent assets:
Furniture and equipment-net 133                   

   Total noncurrent assets 133                   

            Total Assets 160,350            

Deferred Outflows of Resources: -                        

            Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 160,350            

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Net Position:

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 10,526              
Due to other funds 131,731            
Other current liabilities 16,773              

   Total current liabilities 159,030            

Noncurrent liabilities:

   Total noncurrent liabilities -                        

            Total Liabilities 159,030            

Deferred Inflows of Resources: -                        

Net Position:
Invested in capital assets-net of related debt 133                   
Restricted -                        
Unrestricted 1,187                

            Total Net Position 1,320                

            Total Liabilities, Deferred
            Inflows, and Net Position 160,350$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Millville Area School District



Millville Area School District
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Food Service
Fund

OPERATING REVENUES

Food service revenue 38,455$                    

     Total Operating Revenues 38,455                      

EXPENDITURES

Salaries 97,067                      

Employee benefits 44,792                      

Purchased property services 9,741                        

Supplies 187,852                    

Depreciation 267                           

     Total Expenditures 339,719                    

              Operating income (loss) (301,264)                  

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

State sources 31,219                      

Federal sources 369,040                    

       Income (Loss) for the period/Increase (Decrease) in

       Net Position 98,995                      

Net Position  -  Beginning of Period (97,675)                    

Net Position  -  End of Period 1,320$                      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Millville Area School District
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

Food Service
Fund

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash received from users 38,455$                    

Cash payments to employees for services (141,859)                   

Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (216,586)                   

     Net Cash (Used For) Operations (319,990)                   

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

State sources 32,642                      

Federal sources 419,162                    

Operating transfers in (out), net (198,196)                   

     Net Cash Provided By Non-Capital Financing Operations 253,608                    

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Capital outlay -                               

     Net Cash (Used For) Capital and Related Financing Operations -                               

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Earnings on investments -                               

     Net Cash Provided By Investing Activities -                               

       Net Increase (Decrease) in cash for fiscal year (66,382)                     

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period 210,929                    

Cash and cash equivalents - end of period 144,547$                  

RECONCILIATION  OF OPERATING (LOSS) TO CASH (USED FOR) OPERATIONS:

Operating (loss) (301,264)$                 

  Adjustments to reconcile-

     Depreciation 267                           

     (Increase) Decrease in inventory (563)                          

      Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable (18,430)                     

  Net Cash (Used For) Operations (319,990)$                 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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 Millville Area School District 
 Notes to Financial Statements 
 June 30, 2022 
 
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The accounting policies of the Millville Area School District, "the School District" or “District” 
conform to United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applicable to 
governmental entities.  The Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted 
standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  
The District also applies Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) statements and 
interpretations to its governmental and business-type activities in certain situations.  
 

1.A.  Description of Entity  
 
The Millville Area School District, Columbia County, Pennsylvania, "the School District" 
operates as a school district of the 3rd class under the School Code of 1949 of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  The district operates under the management of a 
superintendent hired by and responsible to an elected nine-member board of school directors. 

 
    1.B.  Financial Reporting Entity 
 

The District is the basic level of government which has responsibility and control over all 
activities related to public school education in its attendance area in Columbia County.  The 
District receives funding from local, state, and federal government sources and must comply 
with various requirements of these funding sources.  However, the District is not included in 
any other governmental reporting entity as defined by GASB pronouncements.    Additionally, 
there are no other organizations which are required to be included as a component unit of the 
District’s reporting entity. 

  
     1.C.   Basis of Presentation 
 

Government-wide Financial Statements 
The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities report information about the 
District as a whole.  Theses statements include the financial activity of the District (except for 
fiduciary funds (prior to GASB No. 84 adoption at July 1, 2020 (see below)).  The statements 
distinguish between those activities of the District that are governmental and those that are 
considered business-type activities.  The District's General, and Capital Reserve Funds are 
classified as governmental activities. The District's Food Service Fund is classified as a 
business-type activity.
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The Statement of Net Position presents the financial condition of the governmental and 
business-type activities of the District as of the District’s June 30 fiscal year end.  The 
Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues 
for each function of the District’s governmental activities and for the single business-type 
activity of the District.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a 
service, program or department and, therefore, clearly identifiable to a particular function.  
Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by 
the particular program and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular program.  Revenues, which are not 
classified as program revenues, are presented, with certain limited exceptions, as general 
revenues of the District.  The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies 
the extent to which each governmental function and business-type activity is self-financing or 
draws upon the general revenues of the District. 

 
Fund Financial Statements 
Fund financial statements of the District are organized into funds, each of which is 
considered to be a separate accounting entity.  During the fiscal year, the School District 
accounts for its operations by segregating activities related to certain functions or activities 
into separate funds.  The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of 
self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred 
inflows, fund balances, revenues, and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate.  School 
district resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the 
purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are 
controlled.  
 
Funds are organized into three major categories: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary. In 
the presentation of fund financial statements for governmental and proprietary funds, those 
funds which are considered to be “major funds” are presented separately with the remaining 
funds in each of these categories being presented in an aggregated manner.  A fund is defined 
as a major fund in accordance with GASB Statement No. 34 Basic Financial Statements and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments if it meets the 
following criteria: 
 

1. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that 
individual governmental or proprietary fund are at least 10 percent of the 
corresponding total for all funds of that category, and; 

 
2. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of the 

individual governmental or proprietary fund are at least 5 percent of the 
corresponding total for all governmental and proprietary funds combined.   
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Fiduciary funds are reported by type. 
 
The funds of the District are described below. 
 
Governmental Funds 

General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the School 
District.  It is used to account for all financial resources except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund. 

 
Capital Reserve Fund--The capital reserve fund of the District was established in 
accordance with P.L. 145, Act of April 30, 1943 of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania.  Accordingly, the amounts in this fund are restricted and may be 
utilized only for the purposes designated in the Act. 
 
Scholarship Fund – The School District's Scholarship fund is governmental fund, 
effective with the July 1, 2020 adoption of GASB No. 84.  Like the Student Activities 
fund below, the Scholarship fund was previously a fiduciary, agency fund.  The 
District elected to separate the primarily scholarship components of the prior 
Fiduciary Fund following the evaluation of the fund components relative to their 
underlying governing agreements, if any, and relationships with grantors and other 
parties outside the District.  The Scholarship funds are in the District’s custody via 
depository banking relationships and, while there tends to be input from the original 
grantors, their estates, other stakeholders, etc., there is generally no formal trust 
agreement that affects the degree of management involvement and the length of time 
that the resources are held.  Despite the custody and administrative involvement, the 
District does not view these funds as District property and recognizes the residual 
fund balance as restricted in nature in the accompanying financial statements 
reflecting the District’s understanding of the original grantor intent for the funds. 
 
Student Activities Fund – The School District's Student Activities fund is governmental 
fund, effective with the July 1, 2020 adoption of GASB No. 84.  This fund accounts for 
the funds being held by the School District on behalf of various student clubs and 
organizations.  Generally, there is no trust agreement that affects the degree of 
management involvement and the length of time that the resources are held.  Such 
student clubs and organizations are generally authorized by District policy and the Board 
with oversight by District management and other employees (such as club advisors), but 
the account balances result from organization activity and are the property of the 
respective clubs, and are not District property, in spite of the District’s administrative 
involvement and custody, through depository banking relationships, of the residual 
funds. 
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Proprietary Funds  
Proprietary fund accounting and reporting is used to account for operations that are financed 
and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises - where the intent of the 
governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or 
services on a continuing basis is to be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; 
or where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, 
expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, 
management control, accountability, or other purposes. 
 

Food Service Fund-The Food Service Fund is the District’s only proprietary fund. It 
is utilized to account for the District’s operations in providing meal services. 

 
Fiduciary Funds 
Trust and Agency Funds are used to account for assets held by the School District in a trustee 
capacity or as an agent for individuals.  Fiduciary funds are custodial in nature and do not 
involve measurement of results of operation.  Prior to the adoption of GASB No. 84, the 
District accounted for funds held by the District in a custodial manner on behalf of 
individuals, estates, entities, groups, etc. as an aggregated fiduciary, agency fund.  As 
described above, following GASB No. 84 adoption, these are now included among the 
governmental funds.  

 
The funds, which are considered major funds for fund financial statement presentation, and 
are presented in a separate column within the respective fund category, are: 

1. Governmental Funds 
-General Fund 
-Capital Reserve Fund 

 
2. Proprietary Funds 

-Food Service Fund 
 

All other funds are presented as aggregated information within the respective fund category 
fund financial statement. 
 
1.D.  Accounting Methods 
 
Accounting methods are described in terms of the measurement focus and basis of 
accounting.  
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Measurement focus is a term used to describe which transactions are recorded within the 
financial statements.  Measurement focus is dictated by the principal objective of the 
accounting and reporting being presented.  
 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in 
the accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Basis of accounting relates to the 
timing of the measurements made regardless of the measurement focus applied. 

 
Measurement Focus  
Government-wide Statements of Net Position and the Statements of Activities are prepared 
utilizing the “economic resources” measurement focus for both governmental and business-
like activities. 
 
Fund financial statements are prepared utilizing the “current financial resources” 
measurement focus in governmental funds.  In proprietary funds the “economic resources” 
measurement focus is applied. 
 
In governmental funds the principal objective of the accounting and reporting is to account 
for and report the flow of financial resources utilized in the delivery of services by that 
governmental entity.  Typically, this entails the reporting of the various sources of revenues 
and expenditures versus a legally adopted budget.  The emphasis is on accounting for this 
budget and the financial resources and requirements supporting it on an annual basis.  This 
measurement focus accounts for current financial resources and as such revenue and 
expenditure recognition under this measurement focus is limited and excludes amounts 
represented by non-current assets or liabilities.  Since they do not affect net current assets, 
long-term amounts are not recognized as revenues or expenditures or fund assets or 
liabilities. 
 
Proprietary funds utilize an economic resources measurement focus because the objective of 
the accounting in these funds is the determination of operating income, changes in net assets, 
financial position and cash flows.  All assets and liabilities, whether current or non-current, 
associated with the activities of these funds are included. 
 

  Basis of Accounting 
All governmental funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
Their revenues are recognized when they become both measurable and available as net 
current assets.  Taxes are considered "available" when in the hands of the School District or, 
in the case of delinquent taxes, anticipated to be collected within 60 days after the fiscal year 
end and are recognized as revenue within the fiscal year. 
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Expenditures are generally recognized when the related fund liability is incurred.  The 
exception to this general rule is that interest on general long-term debt is recognized only 
when payable. 

 
Government-wide financial statements are prepared utilizing the accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenues are recognized when they are earned and their expenses are recognized when they 
are incurred.  

 
Proprietary funds are also accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting.  

  
1.E.  Revenue Recognition – Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions 

 
Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, those transactions in which each party gives 
and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange 
takes place.  On the modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in which 
the resources are measurable and become available.  Available means the resources will be 
collected within the current fiscal year or are expected to be collected soon enough thereafter 
to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal year.   
 
Non-exchange transactions, those in which the District receives value without giving equal 
value in return, include property taxes, earned income taxes, grants and donations.  On the 
accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year in which the taxes 
are levied.  Revenue from income taxes is recognized in the period in which the income is 
earned.  Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in 
which all the eligibility requirements have been satisfied.  Eligibility requirements include 
timing requirements, which specify the specific time period in which expenditures must be 
made in order to be eligible as grant, entitlement or donation eligible; matching requirements, 
in which the District must provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose; and 
expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the District on a 
reimbursement basis.  On the modified accrual basis, revenue from a non-exchange 
transaction must also be available before it can be recognized.  Under the modified accrual 
basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and available at 
fiscal year end:  earned income taxes, grants, interest, tuition, and student fees. 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 63 Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of 
Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position (GASB No. 63), the District has 
captioned the amounts historically disclosed as “deferred revenue,” as “unearned revenue.”  
The District’s unearned revenues balance as per the Fund financial statements represents 
unavailable tax revenues and has been disclosed as “deferred inflows of resources.”  These 
amounts are recognized as revenue in the period in which the tax is levied in the Government 
wide statements and are not deferred inflows therein. 
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1.F. – Expenses and Expenditures 
 
On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are incurred. 

   
The “current financial resources” measurement focus of governmental fund accounting, 
results in accounting for decreases in net current financial resources, expenditures rather than 
expenses.  Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in which the 
related fund liability is incurred, if measurable.  Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and 
amortization, are not recognized in governmental funds. 
 
1.G. – Assets, Liabilities and Net Position/Fund Balance 
 
The following summarizes certain of the District’s Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies (SOSAP) matters relevant to significant accounting and financial statement 
components: 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments 
Investments with original maturities of three months are considered as cash equivalents for 
financial statement purposes.  Investments are stated at cost or amortized cost, which 
approximates market. 
 
Taxes and Intergovernmental Receivables 
Taxes receivable are reported on the balance sheet at amounts that include any penalty 
amounts due net of an allowance for uncollectible balances.  Intergovernmental receivables 
include amounts due from the state and federal governments for various grants and subsidies.  
 
Only that portion of such receivables that is determined to be available as of the fiscal year 
end is recorded as revenue in the current year.  Deferred revenue is credited for that portion 
of the receivable balance not meeting the revenue recognition criteria. 

     
Inventory 
Inventory is valued at cost (first-in, first-out).  Inventory consists of food and related supplies 
in the District’s Food Service Fund.  Food donated by the U.S. Department of Agriculture is 
recorded at market value. 

 
The District’s inventory of supplies in the General Fund is not significant in amount and is 
therefore not included in the financial statement. 

 
Capital Assets 
General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities in the District’s 
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Food Service Fund.  These assets generally result from expenditures in the District’s 
governmental funds.  These assets are not included in the Fund Financial Statements.  They 
are, however include in the governmental activities column of the Government-wide 
Statement of Net Position. 
 
Capital assets used by the Food Service Fund are included in both the Fund Financial 
Statements and the business-type activities column of the Government-wide Statement of Net 
Position. 
 
Capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions 
and reductions during the year.  Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market value 
on the date of donation.  The District maintains a capitalization threshold of $1,000 which is 
applied to individual asset purchases or, in the case of the purchase of same or similar assets 
in a group, to the aggregated cost.   
 
All capital assets, except land, are depreciated.  Depreciation is computed using the straight-
line method over the following useful lives: 
 

Description Estimated Useful Lives 
Land Improvements 15-50 years 
Buildings and Building Improvements 15-40 years 
Furniture and Equipment 5-20 years 
Vehicles 5-10 years 
  

Bond Discounts and Premiums and Amortization 
The premiums and discounts resulting from the determination of present value of bond 
transactions, recognized upon issuance of the District’s bonds payable, are being amortized 
utilizing the straight-line method, as described above, over the remaining life of the debt.  
The premiums and discounts have been capitalized as a direct net addition to the face amount 
of bonds payable in the accompanying statement of net position.  Net amortization of 
premium and accretion of discounts expense, which is included as an adjustment (decrease) 
of interest expense, was approximately $5,400 for the year-ended June 30, 2022. 
 
Pensions 
In accordance with the District’s adoption of GASB Statement No. 68 Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Pensions (as amended) (GASB No. 68), effective as of the 
beginning of the fiscal year-ended June 30, 2015, the District recognizes its proportionate 
share of the net pension liability relative relevant retirement benefits available to certain of 
the District’s current and former employees and retirees.   
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For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information about the 
fiduciary net position of the Public School Employees’ Retirement System (PSERS or the 
System or the Pension Plan or the Plan) and additions to/deductions from PSERS’s fiduciary 
net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by PSERS.  For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized 
when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms and PSERS’s investments are 
reported at fair value. 
 
The Pension Plan provides Retirement, death and disability, legislatively mandated ad hoc 
cost-of-living adjustments, and healthcare insurance premium assistance benefits to 
qualifying annuitants.  The plan operates under the authority of the Public School 
Employee’s Retirement Code (the Code) (Act No. 96 of October 2, 1975, as amended) (24 
Pa. C. S. 8101-8535).  The Pension Plan is administered, at the State-wide level, by a 15-
member board (the PSERS Board).   
 
See Note 9, “Pensions,” for further discussion of Pensions and presentation and disclosure 
policies relative to the relevant account balances and amounts. 
 
Other Postemployment Benefit Plans (Other than Pensions) 
The District’s employees and former employees, subject to eligibility requirements 
summarized here and detailed in the corresponding participant agreements, are provided 
postemployment benefits other than pensions via the PSERS Health Insurance Premium 
Assistance Program (the PSERS/System Plan) (see Note 14 for further) and the Millville 
Area School District Postemployment Benefits Plan (the District Plan) (see Note 15 for 
further) (OPEB Plans). 

 
Following the scheduled adoption of GASB GASB No. 75 Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (GASB No. 75) as of July 1, 
2017, the District accounts for these OPEB plans based upon the requirements of GASB No. 
75.  Periods ending at July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2017 were previously accounted for 
based upon the requirements of GASB No. 45 (also entitled Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions), which GASB No. 75 
replaced).  The adoption of GASB No. 75 resulted in the first-time recognition of the PSERS 
Plan which was not required to be accounted for under the prior GASB No. 45. 
 
The year-end balances of the plans were $1,011,000 for the PSERS, State-level plan and 
$1,106,933 for the District-level plan, respectively.  The District recognized a total of 
approximately $230,000 of OPEB expense in its government-wide statement of  
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governmental activities based upon the measurement and recognition requirements of GASB 
No. 75 for the year-ended June 30, 2022. 
 
Net Position 
Net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred outflows and liabilities 
plus deferred inflows.  Net position invested in capital assets represents the costs of fixed 
assets net of related accumulated depreciation and related debt.  Net position is reported as 
restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through restrictions imposed 
by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments. 
 
Fund Balance 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental 
Fund Type Definitions (GASB No. 54), the District classifies governmental fund balances as 
follows: 

 
Non-spendable – includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because 
it is not in spendable form or because of legal or contractual constraints. 
 
Restricted – includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes 
which are externally imposed by providers, such as creditors or amounts constrained 
due to constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Committed – includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific 
purposes that are internally imposed by the government through formal action of the 
Board of Directors, the District’s highest level of decision making authority, and does 
not lapse at year-end. 
 
Assigned – includes fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specific 
purposes that are neither considered restricted or committed. Fund Balance may be 
assigned by the Superintendant or Business Manager if authority to make such 
assignments is granted by the Board of Directors via District policy. 
 
Unassigned – includes positive fund balance within the General Fund which has not 
been classified within the above-mentioned categories and, should they arise, 
negative fund balances in other governmental funds. 
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As of June 30, 2022, the District does not maintain fund balance components which are 
classified as non-spendable or restricted fund balances in the General Fund.  However, the 
District classifies the fund balances of its Student Activities and Scholarship Funds as 
restricted to reflect that these amounts are not available to support General Fund operations 
nor are they available to the District’s creditors. 

 
The District uses restricted /committed amounts to be spent first when both restricted and 
unrestricted fund balance is available unless there are legal documents/contracts that prohibit 
doing this, such as a grant agreement requiring dollar for dollar spending. Additionally, the 
District would first use committed, then assigned, and lastly unassigned amounts of 
unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are made. 

 
The District does not have a formal minimum fund balance policy. 
 
1. H. -- Accumulated Compensated Absences 
 
Retirement severance represents the liability for amounts payable at the time of retirement 
based on vested amounts calculated using rates currently applicable and for vested amounts 
of sick days and vacation due to certain employees. 
 
1. I. -- Accounting Estimates 
 
Preparation of the School District’s financial statements requires management to make 
certain estimates and assumptions about the effect of future events on the valuation of certain 
assets or liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period.  These include assumptions regarding an allowance for uncollectible taxes and useful 
lives and residual values and depreciation and amortization methods. Estimates are made 
because the measurement of some amounts or the valuation of some accounts is uncertain, 
pending the outcome of future events, or relevant data concerning events that have already 
occurred cannot be accumulated on a timely, cost-effective basis. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates. 
 
Significant Risks and Uncertainties 
The following represent factors which could cause actual results to differ from the estimates 
reflected in the accompanying financial statements: 
 
a) Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk 

The District's operations are located in the Borough of Millville and surrounding 
townships in Columbia County, Pennsylvania.  The District’s service area is located 
within the geographic bounds of the District.  The District assesses taxpayers, within 
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its service area, based upon taxing powers at its disposal. The ability of each of the 
District's taxpayers to honor their assessed obligations to the District is dependent 
upon economic and other factors affecting the taxpayers. 

 
b) Grant Programs 

The District participates in both state and federally assisted grant programs. These 
programs are subject to program compliance audits by the grantors or their 
representatives. The District is potentially liable for any expenditure which may be 
disallowed pursuant to the terms of these grant programs. Management is not aware 
of any material items of noncompliance that may result in the disallowance of 
program expenditures. 

 
Note 2. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 
 

In accordance with the Pennsylvania School Code of 1949, as amended, prior to June 30, the 
Board of Directors approves and adopts a General Fund Budget for the fiscal year beginning 
July 1. The General Fund Budget includes proposed expenditures and the means to finance 
them. 
 
Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year 
for the General Fund.  Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted, or as amended by the 
Board of Directors.  Individual amendments are typically not material in relation to the total 
original appropriations.  All budgeted appropriations lapse at fiscal year end. 

 
Note 3. Encumbrances 
 

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments 
for the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable 
appropriation, is employed as an extension of formal budgetary integration in the General 
Fund.  All encumbrances lapse at fiscal year end. 

 
Note 4. Deposits With Financial Institutions and Investments 
 

The deposits and investments of the School District are potentially subject to credit and 
market risks.  Credit risk involves the risk that another party to the deposit or investment 
transaction will not fulfill its obligation with respect to the deposit or investment.  Credit 
risks include failures to perform, as agreed, on the part of the issuer of the security or the 
financial institution holding the deposit or the custodial agent for the security itself or 
supporting collateral.  Market risk involves the risk that the market value of an investment 
itself or the supporting collateral will decline and expose the School District to a loss. 
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The School District’s market and credit risks are reduced by legal restrictions as to the types 
of deposits and investments it is allowed to make under Pennsylvania law.  The following 
information is provided to allow the reader to evaluate the market and credit risks associated 
with the School District’s deposits and investments. 
 
Government-wide Statement of Position Breakout of Cash and Investments: 
The District’s Cash and Investments are as follow as of June 30, 2022: 
 

June 30,
2022

Description Amount
Cash and cash equivalents:
 Governmental  Activities:
  Demand deposits 4,382,408$      
  RBC investment cash 924,126           
  PSDLAF investment pool 2,031,243        
  Cash on hand 1,700               

7,339,477        
 Business-type activities:
  Demand deposits 144,547           

144,547           
Total Statement of Net Assets Cash,
          Cash Equivalents and Investments 7,484,024$      

 
 
Types of Deposits and Investments Permitted for Pennsylvania School Districts: 
 
Legal Requirements 
Section 440.1 of the Pennsylvania Public School Code of 1949 requires deposits and 
investments of the School District to be restricted to the following: 

- United States Treasury bills; 
- Short-term obligations of the United States Government or its agencies or 

instrumentalities; 
- Deposits in institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 

or the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation or the National Credit 
Union Share Insurance Fund to the extent that such accounts are so insured, 
and, for any amounts above the insured maximum, provided that approved 
collateral as provided by the Act of August 6, 1971 (P.L. 281, No. 72) is 
pledged by the depository; or 

- Obligations of the United States of America, the Commonwealth of  
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Pennsylvania, or of any political subdivision of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania or any of their agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full 
faith and credit of the United States of America, the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania, or of any political subdivision of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania respectively. 

 
Information Regarding Risks Related to Deposits and Investments: 
 
At June 30, 2022, the School District had the following deposits and investments with the 
noted related credit and custodial risks: 
 

June 30,
2022

Cash Equivalent/Investment Amount

 Governmental  Activities:
  Demand deposits-collateralization 4,132,408$      

with pooled securities held by a third party
  FDIC/depository insurance 250,000           
  Investment cash - FDIC 924,126           
  Cash on hand 1,700               

  PSDLAF investment pool 2,031,243        An investment pool for Pennsylvania school districts rated 
AAAm by Standard & Poor's.

7,339,477        
 Business-type Activities:
  Demand deposits-collateralization 144,547           

with pooled securities held by a third party
144,547           

   Total Cash Equivalent/Investments 7,484,024$      

Credit/Custodial Risk

Variable rate overnight investment with a bank collaterialize

Variable rate overnight investment with a bank collaterialize

 
 
For purposes of financial statement presentation some of the amounts classified as 
investments above are considered as cash equivalents.   Cash equivalents are defined as 
short-term, highly liquid investments that are both: 
 

a. Readily convertible to known amounts of cash. 
b. So near their maturity that they present insignificant risk of changes in value 

because of changes in interest rates. 
 
Generally, only investments with original maturities of three months or less meet this 
definition. 

 
Also, some of the amounts classified as deposits above are considered to be investments for 
financial statement presentation. 
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Note 5. Intergovernmental Receivables        
 
  Intergovernmental receivables consist primarily of subsidies and grants due from the State 

and Federal governments as of June 30, 2022. As discussed in Note 1, revenue of the general 
fund is recognized on a modified accrual basis.  

 
Note 6. Taxes and Taxes Receivable 
 

The School District levies Real Estate taxes based on valuations provided by the County of 
Columbia.  The calendar for taxes levied for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 was as 
follows: 

 
July 1, 2021     Original levy date 
July 1, - August 31, 2021   2% discount period 
September 1, - October 31, 2021  Face period 
November 1, - December 31, 2021  10% penalty period 
January 1, 2022    Lien date 

 
Taxes receivable represents amounts due the School District as of June 30, 2022 for 
delinquent real estate, recorded at the penalty amount, real estate transfer tax, and earned 
income tax.  A breakout of the detail follows: 

 
Amount

Real estate taxes 273,710$           
Real estate transfer 12,839               
Earned income tax 355,246             

641,795             
Less-Allowance for
   Uncollectible Accounts (19,829)              

621,966$           
 

 
The amounts due represent taxes levied in 2000 through 2020.  As discussed in Note 1, 
revenue related to taxes receivable is recognized on a modified accrual basis in the fund 
financial statements.  As of June 30, 2022, approximately $435,000 of the balance of taxes 
receivable has been recognized as revenue in those statements. Government-wide financial 
statements are prepared on an accrual basis and all of the balance of taxes receivable has 
been recognized as revenue. 
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Note 7. Fixed Assets 
 

The following is a summary of activity for the District’s fixed assets: 
 
Governmental Activities Fixed Assets: 
 

Depreciation
Expense Accumulated Net

Cost Retirements/ Cost For Year-ended Depreciation Asset
Description June 30, 2021 Additions Transfers June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022

Land 370,179$       -$                 -$                  370,179$       -$                   -$                   370,179$       
Land improvements 1,150,329      -                   -                    1,150,329      51,973           959,475          190,854         
Buildings & improvements 30,898,287    312,583        -                    31,210,870    889,212         18,364,105     12,846,765    
Machinery & equipment 6,081,125      333,090        (95,910)         6,318,305      226,314         5,569,382       748,923         
Vehicles 168,572         -                   -                    168,572         10,392           122,961          45,611           

38,668,492$  645,673$      (95,910)$       39,218,255$  1,177,891$    25,015,923$   14,202,332$  

June 30, 2022
Fiscal Year-ended

 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the District as follows: 
 

Governmental Activities:
Function/Program Amount

Instruction 965,950$       
Instructional student support 18,078           
Administration 27,086           
Operation & maintenance 135,224         
Student activities 31,553           

1,177,891$     
 
Business-type Activities - Food Service Fund Fixed Assets: 
 

Depreciation
Expense Accumulated Net

Cost Retirements/ Cost For Year-ended Depreciation Asset
Description June 30, 2021 Additions Transfers June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022

Machinery & equipment 397,615$       -$                 -$                  397,615$       267$              397,482$        133$              

397,615$       -$                 -$                  397,615$       267$              397,482$        133$              

Fiscal Year-ended
June 30, 2022

 
 

See Note 1.G, above, for further explanation of the accounting treatment of fixed assets. 
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Note 8. Unearned Revenues 
 

Unearned revenues at June 30, 2022 consist of the following: 
 

Government-Wide Statement of Net Assets:
Governmental Activities Amount

Unearned/unavailable tax revenue -$                      
Unearned revenue-federal programs 5,487                 

5,487$               

Governmental Fund Statements:
General Fund:

Unearned/unavailable tax revenue 186,931$           
Unearned revenue-federal programs 5,487                 

192,418$           
 

 
As discussed in Note 1, the difference in measurement focus between government-wide 
statements and fund financial statements, results in the above difference in unearned revenue. 
Government-wide statements are prepared utilizing accrual basis accounting while fund 
financial statements utilize the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
 
Unearned tax-related revenue represents revenue not yet recorded as revenue because of not 
meeting the "available" criteria.  This unearned revenue is included under the deferred inflow 
of resources caption in the accompanying financial statements.  Unearned grant revenue, 
which is included among the District’s current liabilities accounts, represents grant funding 
received before but not yet expended by June 30, 2022 under the terms of the underlying 
grant.  See Note 1 for further discussion of revenue recognition and presentation and 
disclosure policies relative to these account balances. 

 
Note 9. Pensions 
 

General information about the Pension Plan: 
 
1. Plan Description: 

PSERS is a governmental cost-sharing, multi-employer defined benefit pension plan 
that provides retirement benefits to public school employees of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania into which more than approximately 600 reporting units contribute.  
The members eligible to participate in the System include full-time public school 
employees, part-time hourly public school employees who render at least 500 hours 
of service in the school year, and part-time per diem public school employees who 
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render at least 80 days of service in the school year in any of the reporting entities in 
Pennsylvania.  PSERS issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained 
at www.psers.pa.gov. 
 

2. Benefits Provided: 
PSERS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits.  Members are eligible for 
monthly retirement benefits upon reach (a) age 62 with at least 1 year of credit 
service; (b) age 60 with 30 or more years of credited service; or (c) 35 or more years 
of service regardless of age.  Act 120 of 2010 (Act 120) preserves the benefits of 
existing members and introduced benefit reductions for individuals who become new 
members on or after July 1, 2011.  Act 120 created two new membership classes:  
Membership Class T-E (Class T-E) and Membership Class T-F (Class T-F).  To 
qualify for normal retirement, Class T-E and T-F members must work until age 65 
with a minimum of three (3) years of service to attain a total combination of age and 
service that is equal to or greater than 92 with a minimum of 35 years of credited 
service.  Benefits are generally equal to 2% or 2.5%, depending on membership class, 
of the member’s final average salary (as defined by the Code) multiplied by the 
number of years of credited service.  For members who membership started prior to 
July 1, 2011, after completion of five (5) years of service, a member’s right to the 
defined benefits is vested and early retirement benefits may be elected.  For Class T-E 
and Class T-F members, the right to benefits is vested after ten (10) years of service. 
 
Participants are eligible for disability retirement benefits after completion of five 
years of credited service.  Such benefits are generally equal to 2% or 2.5%, depending 
on membership class, of the member’s final average salary (as defined in the Code) 
multiplied by the number of years of credited service, but not less than one-third of 
salary nor greater than the benefit the member would have had at normal retirement 
age.  Members over normal retirement age may apply disability benefits. 
 
Death benefits are payable upon death of an active member who has reached age 62 
with at least one year of credited service (age 65 with at least three (3) years of 
credited service for Class T-E and Class T-F members) or who has at least five (5) 
years of credited service (ten (10) years for Class T-E and Class T-F members).  Such 
benefits are actuarially equivalent to the benefit that would have been effective if the 
member had retired on the day before death. 

  
 
 
 
 

http://www.psers.pa.gov/
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3. Funding Policy - Contributions: 
a. Member Contributions: 

Member Contribution Rates 
(the contribution rates based on qualified member compensation for virtually all members are presented below): 

 
Membership 

Class 

Continuous 
Employment 

Since 

Defined 
Benefit (DB) 
Contribution 

Rate 

Defined 
Contribution 

(DC) 
Rate 

Total 
Contribution 

Rate 
 

T-C Prior to 
July 22, 1983 5.25% N/A 5.25% 

6.25% 

T-C On or after 
July 22, 1983 6.25% N/A 6.25% 

T-D Prior to 
July 22, 1983 6.50% N/A 6.50% 

T-D On or after 
July 22, 1983 7.50% N/A 7.50% 

T-E On or after 
July 1, 2011 7.50% (*) N/A 7.50% 

T-F On or after 
July 1, 2011 10.30% (*) N/A 10.30% 

T-G On or after 
July 1, 2019 5.50% (*) 2.75% 8.25% 

T-H On or after 
July 1, 2019 4.50% (*) 3.00% 7.50% 

DC On or after 
July 1, 2019 N/A 7.50% 7.50% 

(*) Represents a “base rate” - Membership Classes T-E, T-F, T-G, and T-H are affected by a “Shared 
Risk” provision in Act 120 of 2010 that in future fiscal years could cause the Membership Class 
contribution rates to fluctuate.   
 

Shared Risk Program Summary 
(“Shared risk,” as defined by PSERS, pertains to the risks and rewards of investment performance – potential Shared 

Risk-related fluctuations are summarized as follows:) 

Membership 
Class 

Defined 
Benefit (DB) 

Base Rate 

Shared Risk 
Increment Minimum Maximum 

T-E 7.50% +/- 0.50% 5.50% 9.50% 
T-F 10.30% +/- 0.50% 8.30% 12.30% 
T-G 5.50% +/- 0.75% 2.50% 8.50% 
T-H 4.50% +/- 0.75% 1.50% 7.50% 
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b. Employer Contributions: 
The District’s contractually required contribution rate for fiscal year ended June 30 
2022, was 33.99% of covered payroll (34.94%, net of premium assistance (0.80%) 
and defined contribution (0.15%) portions), of covered payroll, actuarially determined 
as an amount that, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to 
finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional 
amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.   Contributions to and received by 
the Pension Plan from the District were approximately $2,038,000 for the year ended 
June 30, 2022. 
 
In accordance with Act 29 of 1994, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is required to 
reimburse the School District for contributions made to the retirement plan based 
upon a formula provided in the Act but not less than one-half of the School District’s 
contributions.  
 

4. Pension Liability: 
At June 30, 2022, the District reported a liability of approximately $17,531,000, for 
its proportionate share of the PSERS net pension liability.  The net pension liability 
was measured as of June 30, 2021 (for 2022), and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by rolling forward the System’s 
total pension liability as of June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021.  The District’s proportion 
of the net pension liability was calculated utilizing the employer’s one-year reported 
contributions as it relates to the total one-year reported contributions reported by all 
PSERS participating employers.  At June 30, 2020 (for 2021), the District’s 
proportion of was 0.0427%, which was a decrease of 0.0002 percentage points or an 
approximately 0.5% decrease from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2020 (for 
2021) (approximately 0.0429%). 

   
For the year ended June 30, 2022, the District recognized pension expense of approxi-
mately $1,438,000.  At June 30, 2022, the District reported deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources: 
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Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected
and actual experience 13,000$                 230,000$               

Changes in assumptions 850,000                 -                            
Net difference between projected

and actual investment earnings -                            2,791,000              
Changes in proportions 310,000                 72,000                   
Contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 2,037,761              -                            
3,210,761$            3,093,000$             

 
Deferred outflows resulting from District contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the 
following year.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension 
expense as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30:
2023 (422,000)$             
2024 (233,000)               
2025 (363,000)               
2026 (902,000)               

(1,920,000)$           
 

5. Actuarial Assumptions: 
The total pension liability presented as of June 30, 2021 (for 2022) was determined 
by rolling forward the System’s total pension liability as of the June 30, 2020 
actuarial valuation to June 30, 2021 using the following actuarial assumptions, 
applied to all periods included in the measurement:   

 
(a) Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal – level % of pay 

 
(b) Investment Return: 7.00% - includes inflation at 2.50%  

 
(c) Salary Increases Salary growth - effective average of 

4.50%, comprised of inflation of 2.50% 
and 2.00% for real wage growth and for 
merit or seniority increases. 
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(d) Mortality rates Based on a blend of 50% PubT-2010 
and 50% PubG-2010 Retiree Tables for 
Males and Females, adjusted to reflect 
PSERS’ experience and projected using 
a modified version of the MP-2020 
Improvement Scale. 
 

(e) Discount rate 
(change) 

The discount rate used to measure the 
Total Pension Liability decreased from 
7.25% as of June 30, 2020 to 7.00% as 
of June 30, 2021. 

 
Demographic and economic assumptions approved by the Board for use effective 
with the June 30, 2021 (for 2022) actuarial valuation: 
o Salary growth rate - decreased from 5.00% to 4.50%. 
o Real wage growth and merit or seniority increases (components for salary 

growth) - decreased from 2.75% and 2.25% to 2.50% and 2.00%, respectively. 
o Mortality rates - Previously based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males 

and Females, adjusted to reflect PSERS’ experience and projected using a 
modified version of the MP-2015 Mortality Improvement Scale. Effective 
with the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation, mortality rates are based on a blend 
of 50% PubT-2010 and 50% PubG-2010 Retiree Tables for Males and 
Females, adjusted to reflect PSERS’ experience and projected using a 
modified version of the MP-2020 Improvement Scale. 

 
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021 valuation were based on the 
experience study that was performed for the five-year period ending June 30, 2020.  

 
The long-term expected rate of return on the Pension Plan’s investments was 
determined using a building-block method in which the best-estimate ranges of 
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment 
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are 
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding 
expected inflation. 

 
The Pension Plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is 
established and may be amended by the PSERS Board.  Plan assets are managed with 
a long-term objective of achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the 
benefits provided through the Pension Plan. 
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Long-Term

Target Expected
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return

Global public equity 27.0% 5.2%
Private equity 12.0% 7.3%
Fixed income 35.0% 1.8%
Commodities 10.0% 2.0%
Absolute return 8.0% 3.1%
Infrastructure/MLPs 8.0% 5.1%
Real estate 10.0% 4.7%
Cash 3.0% 0.1%
Leverage -13.0% 0.1%

100%  
 
The above was the PSERS Board’s adopted asset allocation policy and best estimates 
of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2021 (for 
2022). 
 

6. Discount Rate: 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25% (previously 
7.25%). The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 
that contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rate 
and that contributions from employers will be made at contractually required rates, 
actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments 
of current plan members.   
 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension 
liability. 

 
7. Sensitivity to Discount Rate Changes: 

The following presents the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 
7.00%, as well as what the pension liability would be if it were calculated using 
discount rates that are 1-percentage-point lower (6.00%) or 1-percentage-point higher 
(8.00%) than the current rate in order to demonstrate the sensitivity of the District’s 
proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability to changes in the discount rate:  
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Current
1% Discount 1%

Decrease Rate Increase
6.00% 7.00% 8.00%

District's proportionate share of
the net pension liability 23,010,000$          17,531,000$          12,909,000$           

 
8. Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: 

Detailed information about PSERS’s fiduciary net position is available in the PSERS 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) which can be found on the 
System’s website at www.psers.pa.gov. 

 
Note 10. Long-term Debt 

The District’s long-term debt consists of the following as of June 30, 2022: 
 

Amount Current Long-term

General Obligation Bonds of 2019 3,380,000$      190,000 3,190,000$     

3,380,000$      190,000$        3,190,000$      
  

General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2019 
The General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2019 (GOB 2019) were issued April 11, 2019.  The 
GOB 2019 bonds carry a face value of $3,925,000 aggregate and were issued with an 
approximately $97,000 premium based upon interest rates and the timing of payments.  The 
GOB 2019 bonds are/were scheduled to mature on each April 1 from 2020 through 2037 in 
amounts that range from $180,000 to $275,000.  The bonds carried interest rates between 
2.0% and 4.0%, varying based upon maturity.  Bond interest is payable semi-annually on 
October 1 and April 1.  The GOB 2019 bonds were used in conjunction with funds from 
General Fund operations and Capital Reserve to make general capital and energy efficiency 
specific improvements to District facilities. 
 
Columbia Montour AVTS Note of 2015 
Under the terms of the Joint Operating Agreement between Benton Area, Berwick Area, 
Bloomsburg Area, Central Columbia, Danville Area, Millville Area and Southern Columbia 
Area School Districts to operate the Columbia Montour Vocational-Technical School, the 
District was obligated to pay a portion of the Series of 2015 Note issued to refund prior 
bond-funded renovations at the Columbia Montour Vocational-Technical School.  While the 
portion of the annual debt service requirement that the District is obligated to pay each year 
will varied based upon changes in relative market values, the District’s portion of the 
obligation for the current year was approximately 5.56%.   The Notes were satisfied during 
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the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 and no amount remains outstanding relative to these 
previous issuances for which the District is responsible in whole or in part at June 30, 2022. 
 
See also Note 13 “Joint Venture - Columbia Montour Technical School” and Note 18 
“Subsequent Events,” below, for further regarding the District’s fiscal 2021-2022 
commitment to fund renovations at the Columbia Montour AVTS. 
 
Financial Assistance 
The School District typically receives financial assistance from the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania with respect to the above outstanding debt.  This assistance is in the form of a 
reimbursement for principal and interest payments made on these bonds based on the 
"Reimbursable Percentage" assigned to these issues.  
 
All of the above required payments are prior to any financial assistance from the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as discussed above. 
 
A summary of activity in long-term liabilities for the fiscal year is as follows: 
 

Balance Additional Repayments/ Balance
Description  June 30, 2021 Borrowings Reductions  June 30, 2022

Governmental activities:
General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2019 3,565,000$      -$                   185,000$        3,380,000$      
Less-Deferred amounts-
     For issuance discounts -                      -                     -                     -                      
     For issuance premiums 83,766             -                     5,404              78,362             
           Total bonds payable 3,648,766        -                     190,404          3,458,362        

Columbia Montour AVTS Notes of 2015 21,707             -                     21,707            -                      
Compensated Absences-Governmental activities 275,482           7,145              17,009            265,618           

   Governmental activities long-term debt 3,945,955$      7,145$            229,120$        3,723,980$      
 

  
Unused Lines of Credit 
The District has no unused Lines of Credit or other similar borrowings. 
 
Events of Default, Collateral, and Other Matters 
Under the terms of the relevant borrowing agreements, the District’s lenders may accelerate/ 
call the District’s repayment obligations in an event of default such as, but not limited to, that 
a payment of principal and/or interest is delinquent.  No such delinquencies or accelerations 
have occurred. 
 
The District’s lenders’ collateral for the District’s borrowings is a claim on the District’s real 
estate and other tax receipts.  Further collateral is provided by the ability for the District’s 
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lenders to intercept subsidy funding from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania such as the 
Basic Education and other subsidies.  Further collateral is also provided by the District’s 
fixed and other assets. 

 
 Compensated absences 

At June 30, 2022, the School District had liabilities for accumulated unpaid personal absence 
entitlement, retirement severance and health care benefits for retirees.  The personal absence 
entitlement liability represents the vested amounts due professional, administrative and other 
12-month employees.  The retirement severance is based on years of service and the current 
applicable rates.  

 
Note 11. Contingencies - Public Entity Risk Pool 
 

Public entity risk pools consist of groups of governmental entities joining together to finance 
an exposure, liability, or risk.  Such risk pools may involve a transfer or pooling of the risk 
among the participating members or it may involve retention of a portion of or all of the risk 
by the individual members incurring the losses.  Such pools may also involve the transfer of 
a portion or all of the risk of loss to another entity outside the pool by purchase of insurance.  

 
The School District is a member of The Central Susquehanna Region Employee's Health and 
Welfare Trust ("the Trust") which provides group health benefits to some of the employees 
of the district.  The School District participates in the following programs of the Trust: 

 
Health Benefits 
The Trust provides health benefits to members under a pooling of risk concept.  
Required contributions by members are determined on an annual basis by the Trust.  
During the year ended June 30, 2022, the School District made its required 
contribution for health benefits provided under this plan.  No additional contributions 
are required of the School District for the fiscal year. 

 
Under the terms of membership in the Trust, should the School District decide to 
withdraw from the Trust, it would be required to pay any deficit generated by its 
claims experience, as calculated by the Trust at the time of notification of the intent to 
withdraw.  Any deficit repayment would be based upon a formula calculation by the 
Trust relative to the District’s most recent three-year policy participation period; no 
payment would be made to the District upon separation from the Trust relative to 
favorable claims experience over the period. 

  
  Dental and Vision Benefits 

The School District participates in the dental and vision programs operated by the 
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Trust which are operated on a retention of risk by individual member basis.  During 
the year ended June 30, 2022, the School District made its required contribution for 
health benefits provided under this plan.  No additional contributions are required of 
the School District for the fiscal year.  
 
During the year-ended June 30, 2022, the District and its employees paid 
approximately $1,475,000 in premiums to the Trust for District employees’ 
participation in the health and related benefits coverages described above. 
 

Note 12. Non-monetary Transactions     
 

The School District's Food Service fund received Donated Commodities from the U. S. 
Department of Agriculture (USDA).  The receipt of these commodities is recorded at values 
provided by the USDA.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the School District received 
$20,968 of USDA commodities. 

 
Note 13.   Joint Ventures 
 

(a) Columbia Montour Technical School 
The School District is involved, with approximately five other school districts in a joint 
venture to operate the Columbia Montour Technical School (CMTS). The CMTS is a 
comprehensive high school providing vocational-technical education to pupils of the member 
districts.   
 
As described in Note 10, the District was obligated, under terms of Articles of Agreement, as 
revised, between the seven member schools to pay a portion of the $4,250,000 principal plus 
interest of the Guaranteed School Revenue Bonds, Series of 2007 dated November, 2007 (as 
refunded by the CMTS General Obligation Notes, Series of 2015), the proceeds of which 
were used to refund the Series of 2001 Bonds the proceeds of which was used to renovate 
and improve CMTS facilities.  The CMTS General Obligation Notes, Series of 2015 were 
satisfied, with the District’s portion being approximately $21,000, during the year-ended 
June 30, 2022 with no further amounts due relative to these prior issuances as of June 30, 
2022. 
 
The District is also obligated to pay a portion of future expenses and operational costs for the 
operation of the CMTS.  The investment in the joint venture is recorded at the amount of the 
District’s bond obligation. 
 
During the year-ended June 30, 2022, the District paid approximately $544,000 in tuition to 
CMTS for District students’ participation in CMTS vocational education programs. 
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Separate financial statements for the Columbia Montour Technical School are available at the 
District’s administrative offices. 
 
Subsequent Event – Commitment 
During July-August 2021, the CMTS Joint Operating Committee/Board of Directors, upon 
which the District has representation along with the other member districts, approved a plan 
to renovate and improve the CMTS’ facilities.  The cost of the renovation plan is estimated at 
approximately $16,000,000 for which the proportional assessment attributable to Millville 
Area School District would be approximately $1,000,000 based upon the District’s 
proportional real estate value of approximately 5-6% of the combined CMTS Member 
Districts real estate tax base.   
 
During the year-ended June 30, 2022, in addition to the tuition discussed above, the District 
provided the initial funding of approximately 10% of its overall assessment in September 
2021, approximately $101,000, to CMTS for the initial installment on the anticipated CMTS 
facility renovation and improvement project. 
 
See note 19 “Subsequent Events” below for further relative to fiscal year 2022-2023 related 
District-level borrowing to fund the expected commitment. 

 
(b) Central Susquehanna Intermediate Unit 
The School District is a member and has representation on the Board of Directors of the 
Central Susquehanna Intermediation Unit # 16 (CSIU) (and the affiliated Trust discussed per 
Note 11 above).  The District purchased approximately $65,000 in goods and services from 
CSIU and the CSIU is the pass-through entity for the District’s approximately $190,000 of 
federal IDEA funding during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.   
 

Note 14. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions– Multi-employer/Cost Sharing 
 
 PSERS Health Insurance Premium Assistance Program (the PSERS Plan) 
 

General Information about the PSERS Plan: 
1. Health Insurance Premium Assistance Program 

The System provides Premium Assistance which, is a governmental cost sharing, 
multiple-employer other postemployment benefit plan (OPEB) for all eligible retirees 
who qualify and elect to participate. Employer contribution rates for Premium 
Assistance are established to provide reserves in the Health Insurance Account that 
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are sufficient for the payment of Premium Assistance benefits for each succeeding 
year. Effective January 1, 2002 under the provisions of Act 9 of 2001, participating 
eligible retirees are entitled to receive premium assistance payments equal to the 
lesser of $100 per month or their out-of-pocket monthly health insurance premium. 
To receive premium assistance, eligible retirees must obtain their health insurance 
through either their school employer or the PSERS’ Health Options Program. As of 
June 30, 2021 (for 2022), there were no assumed future benefit increases to 
participating eligible retirees. 
 
Premium Assistance Eligibility Criteria 
Retirees of the System can participate in the Premium Assistance program if they 
satisfy the following criteria: 
i. Have 24 ½ or more years of service, or 
ii. Are a disability retiree, or 
iii. Have 15 or more years of service and retired after reaching superannuation 

age, and 
iv. Participate in the HOP or employer-sponsored health insurance program. 

Pension Plan description 
PSERS is a governmental cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plan that provides retirement benefits to public school employees of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The members eligible to participate in the System 
include all full-time public school employees, part-time hourly public school 
employees who render at least 500 hours of service in the school year, and part-time 
per diem public school employees who render at least 80 days of service in the school 
year in any of the reporting entities in Pennsylvania. PSERS issues a publicly 
available financial report that can be obtained at www.psers.pa.gov. 
 
Benefits provided 
Participating eligible retirees are entitled to receive premium assistance payments 
equal to the lesser of $100 per month or their out-of-pocket monthly health insurance 
premium. To receive premium assistance, eligible retirees must obtain their health 
insurance through either their school employer or the PSERS’ Health Options 
Program. As of June 30, 2021 (for 2022), there were no assumed future benefit 
increases to participating eligible retirees 
 
Employer Contributions: 
The school districts’ contractually required contribution rate for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2022 and 2021 were 0.80% and 0.82%, respectively, of covered payroll, 
actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee 
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contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during 
the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 
Contributions to the OPEB plan from the District were approximately $48,000 for the 
year ended June 30, 2022. 
 

2. OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and  
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 

At June 30, 2022, the District reported a liability of $1,011,000 for its proportionate 
share of the net OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 
2021 (for 2022), and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability 
was determined by rolling forward the System’s total OPEB liability as of June 30, 
2020 to June 30, 2021.  The District’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was 
calculated utilizing the employer’s one-year reported covered payroll as it relates to 
the total one-year reported covered payroll. At June 30, 2021 (for 2022), the District’s 
proportion of was 0.0427%, which was a decrease of 0.0002 percentage points from 
its proportion of 0.0429% measured as of June 30, 2020 (for 2021) (an approx. 0.5% 
decrease). 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2022, the District recognized OPEB expense of 
approximately $70,000.  At June 30, 2022, the District reported deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following 
sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected
and actual experience 9,000$                   -$                          

Changes in assumptions 108,000                 14,000                   
Net difference between projected

and actual investment earnings 2,000                     -                            
Changes in proportions 30,000                   4,000                     
Contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 47,961                   -                            
196,961$               18,000$                 

 
 

Deferred outflows resulting from District contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the 
following year.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense 
as follows: 
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Year ended June 30:

2023 24,000$                 
2024 24,000                   
2025 29,000                   
2026 24,000                   
2027 19,000                   
Thereafter 11,000                   

131,000$                
3.  Actuarial Assumptions  

The Total OPEB Liability as of June 30, 2021 (for 2022), was determined by rolling 
forward the System’s Total OPEB Liability as of June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement:  
 
(a) Actuarial cost method: Entry Age Normal - level % of pay 

 
(b) Investment return: 2.18% (was 2.66%) - S&P 20 Year Municipal 

Bond Rate 
(c) Salary growth: Effective average of 4.50%, comprised of 

inflation of 2.50% and 2.00% for real wage 
growth and for merit or seniority increases 

  Premium Assistance reimbursement is capped 
at $1,200 per year. 

  Assumed Healthcare cost trends were applied 
to retirees with less than $1,200 in premium 
assistance per year 

(d) Mortality rates: Mortality rates were based on a blend of 50% 
PubT-2010 and 50% PubG-2010 Retiree 
Tables for Males and Females, adjusted to 
reflect PSERS’ experience and projected 
using a modified version of the MP-2020 
Improvement Scale. 

(e) Participation rate: Eligible retirees will elect to participate Pre 
age 65 at 50% 

  Eligible retirees will elect to participate Post 
age 65 at 70% 

  63% of eligible retirees are assumed to elect 
premium assistance 
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(f) Employer contribution 
rate ((f) (i – iv)): 

The results of the actuarial valuation as of June 
30, 2019 determined the employer contribution 
rate for fiscal year 2021 (for 2022). 

(i) Cost Method: Amount necessary to assure solvency of 
Premium Assistance through the third fiscal 
year after the valuation date 

(ii) Asset valuation 
method: 

Market Value 

(iii) Participation rate: 
(employer contribution) 

63% of eligible retirees are assumed to elect 
premium assistance. 

(iv) Mortality rates 
(employer contribution) 

Mortality Tables for Males and Females, 
adjusted to reflect PSERS’ experience and 
projected using a modified version of the MP-
2015 Mortality Improvement Scale. 

 
Investments 
Investments consist primarily of short-term assets designed to protect the principal of 
the plan assets. The expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was 
determined using the OPEB asset allocation policy and best estimates of geometric 
real rates of return for each asset class. 

 
The OPEB plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is 
established and may be amended by the PSERS Board. Under the program, as defined 
in the retirement code employer contribution rates for Premium Assistance are 
established to provide reserves in the Health Insurance Account that are sufficient for 
the payment of Premium Assistance benefits for each succeeding year. 
 

Long-Term
Target Expected

OPEB Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return

Cash 79.80% 0.10%
US Core Fixed income 17.50% 0.70%
Non-US Developed Fixed 2.70% -0.30%

100%
 

 
The above was the PSERS Board’s adopted asset allocation policy and best estimates 
of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2021 (for 
2022). 
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Discount rate 
The discount rate used to measure the Total OPEB Liability was 2.18% (was 2.66% 
in prior-year).  Under the plan’s funding policy, contributions are structured for short 
term funding of Premium Assistance. The funding policy sets contribution rates 
necessary to assure solvency of Premium Assistance through the third fiscal year after 
the actuarial valuation date. The Premium Assistance account is funded to establish 
reserves that are sufficient for the payment of Premium Assistance benefits for each 
succeeding year. Due to the short term funding policy, the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net 
position was not projected to be sufficient to meet projected future benefit payments, 
therefore the plan is considered a “pay-as-you-go” plan. A discount rate of 2.18% 
which represents the S&P 20 year Municipal Bond Rate at June 30, 2021 (for 2022), 
was applied to all projected benefit payments to measure the total OPEB liability. 
 
Sensitivity of the District’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability to changes 
in the discount rate 
The following presents the net OPEB liability, calculated using the discount rate of 
2.18%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (1.18%) or 1-percentage-point higher 
(3.18%) than the current rate: 
 

Current
1% Discount 1%

Decrease Rate Increase
1.18% 2.18% 3.18%

PSERS Plan 
net OPEB liability 1,161,000$            1,011,000$            888,000$               

 
 

Sensitivity of the System Net OPEB Liability to Change in Healthcare Cost Trend 
Rates 
Healthcare cost trends were applied to retirees receiving less than $1,200 in annual 
Premium Assistance. As of June 30, 2021 (for 2022), retirees Premium Assistance 
benefits are not subject to future healthcare cost increases. The annual Premium 
Assistance reimbursement for qualifying retirees is capped at a maximum of $1,200. 
As of June 30, 2021 (for 2022), 93,392 retirees were receiving the maximum amount 
allowed of $1,200 per year. As of June 30, 2021 (for 2022), 611 members were 
receiving less than the maximum amount allowed of $1,200 per year. The actual 
number of retirees receiving less than the $1,200 per year cap is a small percentage of 
the total population and has a minimal impact on Healthcare Cost Trends as depicted 
below. 
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The following presents the System net OPEB liability for June 30, 2021 (for 2022), 
calculated using current Healthcare cost trends as well as what the System net OPEB 
liability would be if its health cost trends were 1-percentage point lower or 1-
percentage point higher than the current rate: 
 

Healthcare Cost
Trend

1% Rate 1%
Decrease Current Rate Increase

PSERS Plan 
net OPEB liability 1,011,000$            1,011,000$            1,011,000$             

 
OPEB plan fiduciary net position 
Detailed information about PSERS’ fiduciary net position is available in PSERS 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report which can be found on the System’s website 
at www.psers.pa.gov. 

Note 15. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions– Single Employer 

 Millville Area School District Postemployment Benefits Plan (the District Plan) 
 
General Information About the District Plan: 
The District Plan, which is a District-specific, employer-sponsored OPEB plan for all eligible 
retirees who qualify and elect to participate. 
 

The District Plan is a single-employer defined benefit plan administered by the 
District.  The District Plan provides postemployment benefits to eligible retirees.  The 
District Plan is established in accordance with Act 110 of October 20, 1988 and Act 
43 of July 8, 1989 by which the Pennsylvania Public Education Code (the Code) was 
amended, obligating the District to make the school group health insurance coverage 
available to its retirees who have met certain criteria.  Extension of coverage may 
continue until the retiree reaches Medicare eligibility or is covered by other 
insurance.  The Code allows the District to charge retirees an amount not to exceed 
the premium determined for COBRA purposes.   

 
The District Plan is unfunded and no financial report is prepared. The District Plan is 
authorized and under the control, maintenance and operation of the District's School 
Board.  The benefits provided by the Plan are defined by the terms of the 
corresponding employment contract(s) and/or collective bargaining agreement(s) and 
typically include medical, prescription drug, dental and life insurance provided to 
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certain eligible individuals and their spouses less the PSERS supplement (typically 
$100 per month for benefit-eligible retirees (as discussed above), if applicable. 
The District accounts for all of its OPEB activity within its governmental activities; 
the amount attributable to its business-type activity is not material. 

1. Plan Descriptions 
The District provides the following post employment health care plans which provide 
health insurance for qualified retirees: 

1. Administrators - Benefit is coverage for medical, prescription drug, dental and vision. 
If the retired employee has at least 10 years of service with the District and is eligible 
to receive PSERS retirement payments within 1 year, the retiree may receive the same 
coverage and pay the same cost sharing as current Administrative employees for up to 
5 years or until eligible for Medicare, whichever comes first.  If, after 5 years, the 
member is eligible for the Act 110/43 benefit, the member may continue coverage, 
but must pay 100% of the related premiums.  Administrators receiving medical 
coverage as retirees receive an annual HSA of $2,000.  This amount changes to 
$1,500 for the 2023-24 school year, and $1,000 per year afterwards.  Covered spouses 
also receive an HSA contribution in the same amount. 

2. All other Teachers and Professional Contract – Non-Union - Benefits under the Act 
110/43 COBRA Benefit Plan as described below. 

3. Support Staff (Cafeteria and Non-Cafeteria) - Benefit is coverage for medical, 
prescription drug, dental and vision.  Retirees having attained both 10 years of service 
with the District and retired at age 62 or retired under disability at age 59½ are 
eligible to pay the active employee cost sharing amount that he or she was paying as 
an active employee immediately preceding retirement.  Additionally, the retiree must 
pay for any increases in the active employee cost sharing amount that occur after his 
or her retirement.  Retirees are eligible for this benefit until eligible for Medicare.    

4. All employees - Benefit under the Act 110/43 COBRA Benefit Plan- In accordance 
with 24 Pa. C.S.A. 8701 et seq, referred to as the “Public School Retirees’ Health 
Insurance Act”, qualified retired employees from each of the above listed employee 
classes are permitted to purchase insurance coverage for themselves and their 
dependents in the District’s group health plan at the COBRA rate until the retired 
employee reaches Medicare age.  This program is administered through a 
combination of the District and an outside agency. 

5. Premium Assistance through the Pennsylvania School Employee Retirement System- 
As above, in accordance legislation enacted by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 
eligible retirees may receive up to $100 per month in reimbursement to assist in the 
payment for basic health insurance.  The Plan is administered by PSERS and funded 
by contributions from the school districts and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.   
 
PSERS issues a comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial 
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statements and required supplemental information on the plan.  That report may be 
obtained by:  
     Telephone request at 1-888-773-7748  

Email:  See www.psers.pa.gov 
 

Funding Policy- The plans for medical coverage for employees and the Act 110/43 
COBRA Benefit Plans are funded by the District on a pay as you go basis to meet the 
obligations of the Plans.   The Premium Assistance Plan is funded in accordance with 
legislation as enacted by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with school districts 
and the Commonwealth sharing in the funding of the Plan at a rate of 0.80% and 
0.82% of eligible wages in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.  Such rate is subject to change. Refer to the PSERS information cited 
above for information as to the funding policies and status of this Plan. 
 

2. OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and  
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 
At June 30, 2022, the District reported a liability of $1,106,933 for its net OPEB 
liability under the District Plan. The net OPEB liability was measured as of July 1, 
2021 (for 2022), and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability 
was determined by rolling forward the District Plan’s total OPEB liability as of July 
1, 2020 to July 1, 2021. The District is the only employer sponsoring the District Plan 
(i.e. proportion of the overall net OPEB liability attributable to the District is 100%).  
 
For the year ended June 30, 2022, the District recognized OPEB expense of 
$160,220. The OPEB expense is comprised of $96,689 of service cost, $21,899 of 
interest on the OPEB liability, $19,488 of benefit terms changes, and $22,144 of 
amortization of deferred outflows of resources.  At June 30, 2022, the District 
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected
and actual experience 72,923$                 34,621$                 

Changes in assumptions 247,526                 28,194                   
Contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 91,732                   -                            
412,181$               62,815$                  

 

http://www.psers.pa.gov/
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Deferred outflows resulting from District contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the 
following year.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense 
as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30:
2023 22,144                   
2024 22,144                   
2025 22,144                   
2026 22,144                   
2027 22,144                   
Thereafter 146,914                 

257,634$                
 

3. Actuarial Assumptions  
The Total OPEB Liability as of June 30, 2021/July 1, 2021, was determined by 
rolling forward the District’s Total OPEB Liability as of July 1, 2020 to July 1, 2021 
(for 2022) using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included 
in the measurement:  

  
(a) Actuarial cost method: Entry Age Normal - level % of pay 
(b) Interest rate: 2.28% (was 1.86%) - S&P 20 Year Municipal 

Bond Rate at July 1, 2021. 
(c) Salary growth: An assumption for salary increases is used 

only for spreading contributions over future 
pay under the entry age normal cost method.  
For this purpose, salary increases are 
composed of 2.5% cost of living adjustment, 
1% real wage growth, and, for teachers and 
administrators, a merit increase which varies 
by age from 2.75% to 0%. 

  Premium Assistance reimbursement is capped 
at $1,200 per year. 

(d) Mortality rates: Separate rates are assumed preretirement and 
postretirement using the rates assumed in the 
PSERS defined benefit pension plan actuarial 
valuation 

  Incorporated into the table are rates projected 
generationally by the Buck Modified 2016 
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projection scale to reflect mortality 
improvement. 
No disability was assumed 

(e) Participation rate: Assumed retirement rates are based on PSERS 
plan experience and vary by age, service, and 
gender 

  100% of members eligible to received 
subsidized benefits and 60% of members 
eligible for ACT 110/43 COBRA benefits are 
assumed to elect coverage. 

 
Actuarial Cost Method – Entry Age Normal 
Under the Entry Age Normal Cost Method, the Normal Cost is the present value of 
benefits allocated to the year following the valuation date.  Benefits are allocated on a 
level basis over the earnings of an individual between the date of hire and the 
assumed retirement age.  The Accrued Liability as of the valuation date is the excess 
of the present value of future benefits over the present value of future Normal Cost.  
The Unfunded Accrued Liability is the excess of the Accrued Liability over the 
Actuarial Value of Assets.  Actuarial gains and losses serve to reduce or increase the 
Unfunded Accrued Liability.   
 
The OPEB liability includes the amounts due retired employees under retiree health 
insurance plans, the amount determined as the implicit subsidy included in active 
employee insurance premiums for retirees purchasing health insurance through the 
District health plan, and amounts actuarially determined to be earned by current 
employees. 
 
Funding Policy 
The plans for medical coverage for employees and the Act 110/43 COBRA Benefit 
Plans are funded by the District on a pay as you go basis to meet the obligations of 
the Plans.   As summarized in these Notes to the Financial Statements the Premium 
Assistance Plan is funded in accordance with legislation as enacted by the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with school districts and the Commonwealth sharing 
in the funding of the Plan at a rate of 0.80% and 0.82% of eligible wages in the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  Such rate is subject to change. 
Refer to the PSERS information cited above for information as to the funding policies 
and status of this Plan. 

 
Funded Status  
The District Plan is funded on a “pay as you go” basis as of July 1, 2021, the most 
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recent actuarial valuation date.  As described, the Unfunded Accrued Liability is the 
excess of the Accrued Liability over the Actuarial Value of Assets.  The Actuarial 
Value of Assets is $0 for this purpose at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
 
The actuarial assumptions included a 2.28% interest rate (was 1.86% in prior-year), 
which is the expected rate to be earned on the District's deposits. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported 
amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the 
future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the 
health care cost trend. Actuarial amounts determined regarding the funded status of 
the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to 
continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future. 

  
The calculations are based on the types of benefits provided under the terms of the 
substantive plan at the time of valuation and on the pattern of cost sharing between 
the employer and plan members.  The projection of benefits for financial reporting 
purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual 
funding limitations on the pattern of cost sharing between the employer and plan 
members in the future. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include 
techniques that are designed to reduce the efforts of short-term volatility in actuarial 
accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term 
perspective of the calculations. 

 
Discount rate 
The discount rate used to measure the Total OPEB Liability was 2.28% (was 1.86% 
in prior-year).  Due to the short term funding policy, the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net 
position was not projected to be sufficient to meet projected future benefit payments, 
therefore the plan is considered a “pay-as-you-go” plan. A discount rate of 2.28% 
which represents the S&P 20 year Municipal Bond Rate at July 1, 2021, was applied 
to all projected benefit payments to measure the total OPEB liability. 

 
Sensitivity of the District’s proportionate share of the District net OPEB liability to 
changes in the discount rate 
The following presents the net OPEB liability, calculated using the discount rate of 
2.28%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (1.28%) or 1-percentage-point higher 
(3.28%) than the current rate: 
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Current

1% Discount 1%
Decrease Rate Increase

1.28% 2.28% 3.28%
District Plan 

net OPEB liability 1,179,535$            1,106,393$            1,036,421$             
 
Sensitivity of the District Net OPEB Liability to Change in Healthcare Cost Trend 
Rates 
The health care cost trend rate was 5.5% in 2020 through 2023.  Rates gradually 
decrease from 5.4% in 2024 to 4.0% in 2075 and later, based upon the Society of 
Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend Model. 

 
The following presents the District Plan net OPEB liability for June 30, 2022, 
calculated using current Healthcare cost trends as well as what the System net OPEB 
liability would be if it health cost trends were 1-percentage point lower or 1-
percentage point higher than the current rate: 
 

Healthcare Cost
Trend

1% Rate 1%
Decrease Current Rate Increase

District Plan 
net OPEB liability 991,028$               1,106,393$            1,243,837$             

 
As detailed the “Fund Balance” footnote below, the District has committed General 
Fund fund balance in an amount in reference to the unfunded actuarially determined 
liability for post-employment healthcare benefits. 

 
 
Note 16. Fund Balance 
 

The District’s accounting policies discussed further per note 1.G. – Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies – Assets, Liabilities and Net Position/Fund Balance – Fund Balance.  
The following is a schedule of fund balances: 
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Fund balances:
General

Fund

Capital 
Reserve

Fund

Capital
Projects

Fund
Scholarship

Fund

Student 
Activities 

Fund Total

Nonspendable:
-$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

Restricted for:
Scholarships -                    -                    -                    109,705         -                    109,705         
Student sponsored activities -                    -                    -                    -                    65,533           65,533           

Committed to:
Compensated absences 275,482         -                    -                    -                    -                    275,482         
Post-employment health care 1,133,543      -                    -                    -                    -                    1,133,543      
Future retirement funding rate 
     changes 640,146         -                    -                    -                    -                    640,146         
Future CMAVTS
     assessments 17,782           -                    -                    -                    -                    17,782           

Assigned to:
Unspecified capital projec -                    2,649,049      -                    -                    -                    2,649,049      
Debt service -                    -                    42                  -                    -                    42                  

Unassigned: 1,852,005      -                    -                    -                    -                    1,852,005      
Total fund balances 3,918,958$    2,649,049$    42$                109,705$       65,533$         6,743,287$    

 
 
Note 17. Tax Abatements 
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, the District adopted GASB Statement No. 77 Tax 
Abatements (GASB No. 77).  The following is a corresponding disclosure of the District’s 
applicable participation in various tax abatement programs: 

 
Homestead Tax Exemption 
The District enters into property tax abatement agreements with local residents under the 
state’s Taxpayer Relief Act, Act 1 of Special Session 1 of 2006 (The Taxpayer Relief Act). 
The Taxpayer Relief Act provides for property tax reduction allocations to be distributed by 
the Commonwealth to each school district. Property tax reduction will be through a 
“homestead or farmstead exclusion.” 

 
Generally, most owner-occupied homes and farms are eligible for property tax reduction. 
Only a primary residence is eligible for property tax relief.  During the year ended June 30, 
2022, the District abated, and received corresponding funding from the Commonwealth, 
property taxes levied in the amount of approximately $284,000. 
 
Other Tax Abatement Programs 
The District does not have any property or other taxes abated under significant 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania economic development programs such as Keystone 
Opportunity Zones (KOZ) or Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (LERTA). 
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From time to time individuals or organizations may qualify for a tax abatement, such as for a 
disability, veteran status, or a combination of these and/or similar preferences.  Such 
abatements are typically short in duration and are not significant individually or in the 
aggregate. 
 

Note 18. New Accounting Pronouncement – Accounting for Leases 
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the District adopted GASB Statement No. 87 
Leases (GASB No. 87).  The District has identified certain agreements within the scope of 
GASB No. 87.  The agreements, which are primarily for copying, scanning, printing, 
mailing/postage, and other related document management equipment, cover supplies and 
maintenance as well as, in some cases, staff training and support activities (including timely 
replacement of any equipment found to be faulty) in addition to the initial equipment itself.  
District management has evaluated the commitments under the terms of the respective 
agreements to be immaterial individually, and in the aggregate, relative to the financial 
statements taken as a whole and in the context of the District’s other long term, debt and debt 
service commitments.  The District has not recognized a GASB No. 87 lease asset or liability 
relative to these immaterial items in the accompanying financial statements. 
 

Note 19. Subsequent Events 
 

Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 30, 2023, which is the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.  No reportable subsequent events were 
identified other than those accrued in the accompanying statement of net position and/or 
governmental funds balance sheet and the following: 
 
Coronavirus – COVID-19 Pandemic 
During March 2020, the pandemic outbreak of the COVID-19 strain of coronavirus resulted 
in the declaration of national and Commonwealth of Pennsylvania states of emergency.  As a 
result, the Commonwealth’s governor ordered all public school districts to close to students  
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for an extended period in an effort to stem the transmission of the virus.  The closure, re-
opening, and related mitigation efforts and other, related circumstances have caused and may 
be assumed to continue to cause operational difficulties.  While there is uncertainty as to the 
timing of the pandemic’s end, the District continues to explore and has identified certain 
operational adaptations to allow for the continued delivery of educational and other services.  
 
Additionally, the District and most, if not all, other School Districts in the Commonwealth 
have received appropriations of significant federal and state grant funding in support of 
pandemic mitigation, re-opening, and operating efforts. 
 
C.M.A.V.T.S. Joint Venture – Renovations Funding Commitment with Borrowing 
During June 2021, via the District’s membership and affiliation through the Articles of 
Agreement among the C.M.A.V.T.S. member districts (as described in Note 13 above), the 
District committed to provide proportional support to the approved renovation project at the 
C.M.A.V.T.S.  The project was initially expected to commence in fiscal 2021-2022 or early 
fiscal 2022-2023, with each member district separately borrowing or otherwise funding a 
proportional amount of the estimated $16,000,000 cost of the project.  The estimated 
assessment due from the District is approximately $1,000,000.  The District provided the 
initial funding of approximately 10% of its overall assessment in September 2021.  Further, 
in August 2022, the District obtained $1,145,000 of external financing via a long-term note 
arrangement with a local bank (the General Obligation Note Series of 2022) of the remaining 
portion over a 15-year maturity period.  The notes bear interest rates ranging from 3.40% to 
5.40%, depending upon maturity.  Final maturity is expected at approximately August 1, 
2037. 
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Fiscal Year Ended

District's 
proportion of the 

net pension liability 
(asset)

District's 
proportionate share 
of the net pension 

liability (asset)
District's covered-
employee Payroll

District's 
proportionate share 
of the net pension 

liability (asset) as a 
percentage of its 

covered-employee 
payroll

Plan fiduciary net 
position as a 

percentage of the 
total pension 

liability

June 30, 2022 0.0427% 17,531,000$          5,995,178$            292.42% 63.67%
June 30, 2021 0.0429% 21,124,000            6,056,726              348.77% 54.32%
June 30, 2020 0.0418% 19,555,000            5,948,780              328.72% 55.66%
June 30, 2019 0.0414% 19,874,000            5,630,804              352.95% 54.00%
June 30, 2018 0.0408% 20,150,000            5,445,993              370.00% 51.84%
June 30, 2017 0.0403% 19,971,000            5,304,603              376.48% 50.14%
June 30, 2016 0.0361% 15,637,000            5,073,500              308.21% 54.36%
June 30, 2015 0.0352% 13,932,000            4,613,883              301.96% 57.24%

Schedule of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

 
 
This schedule is presented to fulfill the requirement, upon the adoption of GASB No. 68, to show 
certain pension related information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, 
governments should present information for those years for which information is available. 
 
The District adopted the provisions of GASB No. 68, for the year ended June 30, 2015 in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Therefore, 
information for years prior to 2015 is not available for reporting and is not presented. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Unaudited - Required Supplementary Information 
See accompanying Independent Auditor’s Report
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Fiscal Year Ended

Contractually 
required 

contribution

Contributions in 
relation to the 
contractually 

required 
Contribution 

deficiency (excess)
District's covered-
employee Payroll

Contributions as a 
percentage of 

covered-employee 
payroll

June 30, 2022 2,037,761$            2,037,761$            -$                          5,995,178$            33.99%
June 30, 2021 2,029,609              2,029,609              -                            6,056,726              33.51%
June 30, 2020 1,984,513              1,984,513              -                            5,948,780              33.36%
June 30, 2019 1,835,642              1,835,642              -                            5,630,804              32.60%
June 30, 2018 1,728,558              1,728,558              -                            5,445,993              31.74%
June 30, 2017 1,548,944              1,548,944              -                            5,304,603              29.20%
June 30, 2016 1,268,375              1,268,375              -                            5,073,500              25.00%
June 30, 2015 933,369                 933,369                 -                            4,613,883              20.23%

Schedule of the District's Pension Contributions

 
 
This schedule is presented to fulfill the requirement, upon the adoption of GASB No. 68, to show 
certain pension related information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, 
governments should present information for those years for which information is available. 
 
The District adopted the provisions of GASB No. 68, for the year ended June 30, 2015 in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Therefore, 
information for years prior to 2015 is not available for reporting and is not presented. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Unaudited - Required Supplementary Information 
See accompanying Independent Auditor’s Report 
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2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Total OPEB liability

Service Cost 96,689$             72,759$             59,005$             55,159$             56,456$             
Interest 21,899               34,450               23,834               24,980               19,767               
Changes of benefit terms 19,488               -                        -                        -                        (62,050)             
Differences between expected and

actual experience (37,284)             -                        91,154               -                        -                        
Changes of assumptions or other inputs (30,363)             112,401             119,831             1,343                 79,899               
Benefit Payments (97,579)             (84,183)             (79,665)             (88,244)             (88,910)             

Net change in total OPEB liability (27,150)             135,427             214,159             (6,762)               5,162                 

Total OPEB liability-beginning 1,133,543          998,116             783,957             790,719             785,557             
Total OPEB liability-ending 1,106,393          1,133,543          998,116             783,957             790,719             

Covered employee payroll 4,974,530          5,171,182          5,171,182          5,010,967          5,010,967          

Total OPEB liability as a percentage 
of covered-employee payroll 22.24% 21.92% 19.30% 15.64% 15.78%

Notes to Schedule:
Presentation :
This schedule is presented using the optional format of combining the required schedules in paragraphs 170a and 170b of GASB No. 75.

 
Changes of Assumptions:
2021-2022:
The discount rate changed from 1.86% to 2.28%.  The expected recognition period is 13 years.
2020-2021:
The discount rate changed from 3.36% to 1.86%.  The trend assumption was updated.
2019-2020:
The discount rate changed from 2.98% to 3.36%.  Benefit election %s were increased from 50% to 60% and marriage assumption was 
increased from 33% to 50%.  The trend assumptions were updated.
2018-2019:
The discount rate changed from 3.13% to 2.98%.  The trend assumption was updated.
2017-2018:
The discount rate changed from 2.49% to 3.13%.  The trend assumption was updated.  Assumptions for salary, mortality, withdrawal, and re
were updated based upon new PSERS assumptions.  The expected recognition period is 12 years.

Schedules of Changes in the District's Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Millville Area School District Postemployment Benefits Plan

Fiscal Year ending June 30,

 
 
This schedule is presented to fulfill the requirement, upon the adoption of GASB No. 75, to show 
certain pension related information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, 
governments should present information for those years for which information is available. 
 
The District adopted the provisions of GASB No. 75, for the year ended June 30, 2018 in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Therefore, 
information for years prior to 2018 is not available for reporting and is not presented. 
 
Unaudited - Required Supplementary Information 
See accompanying Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Fiscal Year Ended

District's 
proportion of the 

net OPEB liability 
(asset)

District's 
proportionate share 

of the net OPEB 
liability (asset)

District's covered-
employee Payroll

District's 
proportionate share 

of the net OPEB 
liability (asset) as a 

percentage of its 
covered-employee 

payroll

Plan fiduciary net 
position as a 

percentage of the 
total OPEB liability

June 30, 2022 0.0427% 1,011,000$            5,995,178$            16.86% 5.30%
June 30, 2021 0.0429% 927,000$               6,056,726$            15.31% 5.69%
June 30, 2020 0.0418% 889,000$               5,948,780$            14.94% 5.56%
June 30, 2019 0.0414% 863,000$               5,630,804$            15.33% 5.56%
June 30, 2018 0.0408% 831,000$               5,445,993$            15.26% 5.73%

PSERS Health Insurance Premium Assistance Program 
Schedule of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability

 
 
This schedule is presented to fulfill the requirement, upon the adoption of GASB No. 75, to show 
certain pension related information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, 
governments should present information for those years for which information is available. 
 
The District adopted the provisions of GASB No. 75, for the year ended June 30, 2018 in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Therefore, 
information for years prior to 2018 is not available for reporting and is not presented. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Unaudited - Supplementary Information 
See accompanying Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Fiscal Year Ended

Contractually 
required 

contribution

Contributions in 
relation to the 
contractually 

required 
Contribution 

deficiency (excess)
District's covered-
employee Payroll

Contributions as a 
percentage of 

covered-employee 
payroll

June 30, 2022 47,961$                 47,961$                 -$                          5,995,178$            0.80%
June 30, 2021 49,665$                 49,665$                 -$                          6,056,726$            0.82%
June 30, 2020 49,969$                 49,969$                 -$                          5,948,780$            0.84%
June 30, 2019 46,736$                 46,736$                 -$                          5,630,804$            0.83%
June 30, 2018 45,202$                 45,202$                 -$                          5,445,993$            0.83%

PSERS Health Insurance Premium Assistance Program 
Schedule of the District's OPEB Contributions

 
This schedule is presented to fulfill the requirement, upon the adoption of GASB No. 75, to show 
certain pension related information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, 
governments should present information for those years for which information is available. 
 
The District adopted the provisions of GASB No. 75, for the year ended June 30, 2018 in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Therefore, 
information for years prior to 2018 is not available for reporting and is not presented. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Unaudited - Supplementary Information 
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 Richard B. Snodgrass & Co. 
 Audit, Tax, and Advisory 
 1117 Cemetery Road 
 Montoursville, Pennsylvania 17754 
 
 570-220-4990 
 FAX 570-433-4728 
 email-dsnodgrass@snodgrass-co.com 
 
 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH                           
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
Board of Directors 
Millville Area School District 
330 East Main Street 
Millville, Pennsylvania 17846 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the accompanying financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of  the Millville Area School District (the District) for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the 
related notes to the financial statements , which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial 
statements and have issued our report thereon dated March 30, 2023.   
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination 
of deficiencies, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the District’s 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.   Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
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deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of my audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control and compliance.  
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
Richard B. Snodgrass & Co. 
Montoursville, Pennsylvania 
March 30, 2023 



Passed thru
Grantor's Grant Period Total Accrued Accrued to sub-recipients

PAL Funding Pass Thru Beginning/ Sc. Program or Received or (Deferred) Revenue or (Deferred) For year ended
Program Title Number Code Number Ending Date Code Award Amt. For Year 7/1/2021 Recognized Expenditures 6/30/2021 6/30/2022

U.S. Department of Agriculture-
   Passed Through the Pennsylvania Department of Education:
COVID-19-P-EBT Local Admin Funds 10.649 I N/A 7/1/21-6/30/22 F 614.00                 614.00$                 -$                     614.00$                   614.00$                -$                     -$                     
Child Nutrition Cluster:
COVID-19-Supply Chain Assistance 10.555 I N/A 7/1/21-6/30/22 F 16,773.25            16,773.25              -                       -                          -                        (16,773.25)           -                       
COVID-19-SNP Emergency Operating
Costs 10.555 I N/A 7/1/21-6/30/22 F 2,786.62              2,786.62                -                       2,786.62                  2,786.62               -                       -                       
COVID-19-National School Lunch-SSO 10.555 I N/A 7/1/21-6/30/22 F N/A 246,053.82            -                       259,937.78              259,937.78           13,883.96             -                       
COVID-19-National School Lunch-SSO 10.555 I N/A 7/1/20-6/30/21 F N/A 33,480.01              33,480.01            -                          -                        -                       -                       

    Total-National School Lunch Program 299,093.70            33,480.01            262,724.40              262,724.40           (2,889.29)             -                       

COVID-19-National Breakfast-SSO 10.553 I N/A 7/1/21-6/30/22 F N/A 84,734.05              -                       84,734.05                84,734.05             -                       -                       
COVID-19-National Breakfast-SSO 10.553 I N/A 7/1/20-6/30/21 F N/A 13,752.99              13,752.99            -                          -                        -                       -                       

    Total-National School Breakfast Program 98,487.04              13,752.99            84,734.05                84,734.05             -                       -                       

    Totals-Child Nutrition Cluster-Cash Assistance 397,580.74            47,233.00            347,458.45              347,458.45           (2,889.29)             -                       

   Passed Through the Pennsylvania Department of Agriculture:
National School Lunch Commodities 10.555 I N/A 7/1/20-6/30/21 F N/A 20,968.10              (769.00)                20,968.10                20,405.10             (1,332.00)             1. -                       

    Totals-Child Nutrition Cluster-Non-Cash Assistance 20,968.10              (769.00)                20,968.10                20,405.10             (1,332.00)             -                       

    Totals-Nutrition Cluster 418,548.84            46,464.00            368,426.55              367,863.55           (4,221.29)             -                       

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 418,548.84$          46,464.00$          369,040.55$            368,477.55$         (4,221.29)$           -$                     

Non-Federal Funds - Passed Through the Pennsylvania Department of Education:
COVID-19-State Lunch Program-SSO N/A N/A N/A 7/1/20-6/30/22 S N/A 7,520.52$              -$                     7,835.52$                7,835.52$             315.00$                -$                     
COVID-19-State Lunch Program-SSO N/A N/A N/A 7/1/20-6/30/21 S N/A 1,245.00                1,245.00              -                          -                        -                       -                       
COVID-19-State Breakfast-SSO N/A N/A N/A 7/1/20-6/30/22 S N/A 3,333.50                -                       3,472.40                  3,472.40               138.90                  -                       
COVID-19-State Breakfast-SSO N/A N/A N/A 7/1/20-6/30/21 S N/A 632.00                   632.00                 -                          -                        -                       -                       

12,731.02$            1,877.00$            11,307.92$              11,307.92$           453.90$                -                       
U.S. Department of Education-
   Passed Through the Pennsylvania Department of Education:
Title I 84.010 I 013-220255 8/13/21-9/30/22 F 233,656$             -$                       -$                     226,495.88$            226,495.88$         226,495.88$         -$                     
Title I 84.010 I 013-210255 7/1/20-9/30/21 F 174,173               34,814.20              46,100.55            23,323.88                23,323.88             34,610.23             -                       

    Total-Title I Program (PAL# 84.010) 34,814.20              46,100.55            249,819.76              249,819.76           261,106.11           -                       

Title IIA Improv Teacher 84.367 I 020-220255 8/13/21-9/30/22 F 32,137                 -                             -                       32,137.00                32,137.00             32,137.00             -                       
Title IIA Improv Teacher 84.367 I 020-210255 7/1/20-9/30/21 F 24,442                 197.00                   197.00                 -                          -                        -                       -                       

    Total-Title II Program (PAL# 84.367) 197.00                   197.00                 32,137.00                32,137.00             32,137.00             -                       

Title IV Student Support & Academic 
Enrichment Grants 84.424 I 144-220255 8/13/21-9/30/22 F 13,029                 -                             -                       5,861.06                  5,861.06               5,861.06               -                       
Title IV Student Support & Academic 
Enrichment Grants 84.424 I 144-210255 7/1/20-9/30/21 F 13,540                 902.67                   1,847.71              1,764.92                  1,764.92               2,709.96               -                       
Title IV Student Support & Academic 
Enrichment Grants 84.424 I 144-200255 8/16/19-9/30/21 F 13,533                 -                             (2,220.15)             2,220.15                  2,220.15               -                       -                       

    Total-Title IV Program (PAL# 84.424) 902.67                   (372.44)                9,846.13                  9,846.13               8,571.02               -                       

Millville Area School District
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal (and State) Awards

Year Ended June 30, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Schedule.
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Passed thru
Grantor's Grant Period Total Accrued Accrued to sub-recipients

PAL Funding Pass Thru Beginning/ Sc. Program or Received or (Deferred) Revenue or (Deferred) For year ended
Program Title Number Code Number Ending Date Code Award Amt. For Year 7/1/2021 Recognized Expenditures 6/30/2022 6/30/2022

COVID-19-Elementary and Secondary 
School Emergency Relief Fund II 84.425D I 253-210255 3/13/20-9/30/23 F 639,794               74,394.65              75,243.72            528,914.62              528,914.62           529,763.69           -                       
COVID-19-Elementary and Secondary 
School Emergency Relief Fund III
American Rescue Plan (ARP) 84.425U I 253-220255 3/13/20-9/30/24 F 1,294,119            70,588.32              -                       334,693.59              334,693.59           264,105.27           -                       
COVID-19 American Rescue Plan (ARP)
Elementary and Secondary School 
Emergency Relief Fund (7%) 84.425U I 225-210255 3/13/20-9/30/24 F 100,582               5,487                     -                       -                          -                        (5,487)                  -                       

   Passed Through the Pennsylvania Commission on Crime and Delinquency:
COVID-19 - Elementary and Secondary 
School Emergency Relief Fund - School 
Safety Grant 2 84.425D I 2020-ES-01-35540 3/13/20-9/30/22 F 18,051.00            -                         -                       18,051.00                18,051.00             18,051.00             -                       

    Total-ESSER (PAL# 84.425) 150,469.97            75,243.72            881,659.21              881,659.21           806,432.96           -                       

   Passed Through the Pennsylvania Department of Education:
Special Education Cluster-
COVID-19-IDEA B (SECIM) 84.027 I 252-200255 7/1/20-9/30/22 F 11,106                 2,221.20                62.26                   7,341.74                  7,341.74               5,182.80               -                       

   Passed Through the Pennsylvania Department of Education:
           Passed Through Central Susquehanna Intermediate Unit #16:
Special Education Cluster-
IDEA B 84.027 I 062-22-0016 7/1/21-9/30/22 F 156,943               87,767.45              -                       156,942.57              156,942.57           69,175.12             -                       
COVID-19 - IDEA B - ARP 84.027X I 062-22-0016 7/1/21-9/30/22 F 32,979                 18,443.07              -                       32,979.22                32,979.22             14,536.15             -                       
IDEA B 84.027 I NA 7/1/20-9/30/21 F 177,095               -                         179,271.40          -                          -                        179,271.40           -                       

    Total-IDEA B Program (PAL# 84.027) 106,210.52            179,271.40          189,921.79              189,921.79           262,982.67           -                       

IDEA B - Preschool 84.173 I 131-21-0016 7/1/21-6/30/22 F 1,587                   -                             -                           1,587.00                  1,587.00               1,587.00               -                           
IDEA B - Preschool 84.173 I NA 7/1/20-6/30/21 F 1,034                   1,034.00                1,034.00              -                              -                            -                           -                           

    Total-IDEA B Preschool Program (PAL# 84.173) 1,034.00                1,034.00              1,587.00                  1,587.00               1,587.00               -                           

    Totals-Special Education Cluster 109,465.72            180,367.66          198,850.53              198,850.53           269,752.47           -                           

Total U.S. Department of Education 295,849.56$          301,536.49$        1,372,312.63$         1,372,312.63$      1,377,999.56$      -$                     

Totals 727,129.42$          349,877.49$        1,752,661.10$         1,752,098.10$      1,374,232.17$      -$                     

Funding Codes- Source Codes-
D = Direct Funding F = Federal Funding
I = Indirect Funding S = State Funding

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Schedule.
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 Millville Area School District 
 Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal (and State) Awards 
 
 Year Ended June 30, 2022 
 

A. Basis of Presentation 
 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal (and state) awards (the Schedule) 
includes the federal and certain related state grant activity of the Millville Area School 
District (the District).  The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with 
the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200 Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of 
the District’s operations, it is not intended to and does not present the District’s financial 
position, changes in net assets/fund balance, or cash flows. 
 

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.  
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement.  Negative amounts shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or 
credits made in the normal course of business to the amounts of expenditures reported 
and deferred amounts. 

 
C. USDA Donated Commodities 

 
Deferred balances at the beginning and end of the fiscal year represent inventories of 
USDA donated commodities.  Such commodity inventories are valued at USDA provided 
unit values. 
 

D. Indirect Cost Rate 
 

The accompanying Schedule does not include indirect costs related to the operation of the 
District’s federal and related state grant programs.  The District has utilized neither a 
federally negotiated rate nor the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under 
the Uniform Guidance to capture and include any such indirect costs associated with 
federal awards. 

 
E. Subrecipient Status 

 
The District is a subrecipient of federal awards, does not function as a pass-through to 
other subrecipients, and $0 of the District’s grant awards have been passed-through. 
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 Richard B. Snodgrass & Co. 
 Audit, Tax, and Advisory 
 1117 Cemetery Road 
 Montoursville, Pennsylvania 17754 
 
 570-220-4990 
 FAX 570-433-4728 
 email-dsnodgrass@snodgrass-co.com 
 
 

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM; AND       
REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE  

REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
 
Board of Directors 
Millville Area School District 
330 East Main Street 
Millville, Pennsylvania 17846 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited the Millville Area School District’s (the District) compliance of with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of the District’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2022.  The 
District’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.   
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the 
year ended June 30, 2022.  
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200 Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance).  Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in 
the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis opinion on compliance for each 
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major federal program.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the District’s compliance 
with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
The District’s management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal controls over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the District’s federal programs.   
 
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and  express an 
opinion on the District’s based on our audit.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance 
when it exists.  The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepres-
entations, or the override of internal control.  Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred 
to above is considered material if there is substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it 
would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the District’s 
compliance with the requirements of each major program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and GAS and the Uniform Guidance, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the District’s compliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of the District’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over 
compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s 
internal control over compliance. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control does not 
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
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or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a 
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of 
control deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that 
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance that is 
less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in Auditors 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit, we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as described above.  However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s 
internal control over compliance. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the result of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

  
Richard B. Snodgrass & Co. 
Montoursville, Pennsylvania 
March 30, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



See also the accompanying notes to this Schedule 
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 Millville Area School District 
Single Audit Report 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
 

June 30, 2022 
  

Section I 
 
Summary of Auditor’s Results: 

Financial Statements 
Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with GAAP: 
 

The auditor’s report on the basic financial statements is unmodified. 
• Material weakness(es) 

identified? ___Yes   X   No 

• Significant deficiency(ies) 
identified? ___Yes   X   No 

Noncompliance material to  
financial statements noted? ___Yes   X   No 

Federal Awards 
Internal control over major  
federal programs: 

  

• Material weakness(es) 
identified? ___Yes   X   No 

• Significant deficiency(ies) 
identified? ___Yes   X   No 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major federal programs: 
 

The auditor’s report on compliance for major programs is unmodified 
Any audit findings disclosed that are 
required to be reported in accordance 
with 2 CFR  
200.516(a)? 

___Yes   X   No 

Identification of major federal programs: 
 
PAL Number(s): 

 Name of Federal  
Program or Cluster: 

 

  
PAL# 84.425 Elementary and Secondary School Emergency 

 Relief/Education Stabilization Fund 
  

  
Dollar threshold used to distinguish 
between type A and 
 type B programs: 

$750,000  

Auditee qualified as low- risk 
auditee? ___Yes   X   No 



Millville Area School District 
Single Audit Report 

 Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
 
 June 30, 2022 

(Continued) 
 

See also the accompanying notes to this Schedule 
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Section II 

 
  Financial Statement Findings 
  Financial statement Findings which are required to be reported under    
  generally accepted government auditing standards: 

 
 

 
 

 
There were no such findings/matters reported. 

 
Section III 

 
Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs:  

 
 

 
 

 
There were no such findings/matters reported. 
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Millville Area School District 
Single Audit Report 

Notes to the Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
 

June 30, 2022 
 

Note A.  Calculation of the 40%/20% Rule 
 
Major programs were evaluated/selected representing the following percentages of total 
Federal Expenditures: 

Single Audit 
Major Program(s) PAL# % Expenditures Treatment

84.425D 50.6% 881,659$                Type A-Major 
                 Totals 50.6% 881,659$                
          Other Programs 49.4% 859,131$                
  Total Federal Expenditures 100.0% 1,740,790$             (Note B.)

           COVID-19-ESSER/Education
                  Stabilization Fund

 
 

Note B.  Reconciliation of Total Federal Expenditures 
 
Total Federal Expenditures per Note A above are total expenditures per the Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal (and State) awards as follows: 
 

Total Federal Expenditures are total expenditures per schedule of: 1,752,098$                
 less  State lunch reimbursements of: (7,836)                        

 less  State breakfast reimbursements of: (3,472)                        
1,740,790$                

 
 
Note C.  Selection of Major Programs 

 
The selection of major programs was done utilizing a risk-based approach in accordance with 
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200 Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).   Based 
upon the applicable Type A vs. Type B program threshold of $750,000 based upon Federal 
Expenditure level, the District has one (1) Type A program.   
 
The Education Stabilization Fund (PAL# 84.425) has not been previously audited as a Type 
A major program and has been evaluated as non-low risk and has been identified as a major 
program.  The District has no remaining Type A programs.  Therefore, no Type A programs 
evaluated as low risk. 
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Millville Area School District 
Single Audit Report 

 Schedule of Prior Findings and Questioned Costs 
 

June 30, 2022  
 

 
 
There are no prior findings or questioned costs required to be reported under 
OMB A-133 (prior periods)/the Uniform Guidance. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 -69- 

 
 
 
 
 Millville Area School District 
 Financial Statements, Single Audit Reports, and 

Supplementary Information 
 June 30, 2022 
 
 LIST OF REPORT DISTRIBUTION 
 
 
 Filed Electronically to: 
 
Bureau of Audits                                                                                                
Special Audit Services Division 
Forum Place—8th Floor 
555 Walnut Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
 
 
Filed Electronically to: 
 
Federal Audit Clearinghouse 
Bureau of the Census 
1201 E. 10th Street 
Jeffersonville, IN 47132 
 
Attention: Single Audit Clearing House  
 
 
Filed Electronically to: 
 
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board                                                                                                
Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA system) 
c/o EMMA Dataport 
www.msrb.org 
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Millville Area School District 
Financial Statements and  

Supplementary Information 
Lead Auditor Information 

 
June 30, 2022 

 
 
Lead Auditor: David D. Snodgrass 

Certified Public Accountant  
Richard B. Snodgrass & Co. 
1117 Cemetery Road 
Montoursville, Pennsylvania 17754 
 
Phone:  (570) 220-4990 
Fax:      (570) 433-4728 
E-mail:  dsnodgrass@snodgrass-co.com 
 

Licensing: Richard B. Snodgrass & Co. is a Pennsylvania 
sole proprietorship which is owned and 
operated by David D. Snodgrass, CPA.  
 
David D. Snodgrass, CPA, is licensed to do 
business in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
(PA License No. CA-051085) where the 
District is located and where the accounting 
records are maintained. 
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